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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

The Board of Directors of The Hospitals Contribution Fund of Australia 
Limited (‘HCF’ or ‘the Company’) has pleasure in submitting its report 
for the year ended 30 June 2018.  

DIRECTORS  

Unless otherwise stated, the following persons were Directors of HCF 
during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report:  

• Mr John M. Barrington 

• Mr Stuart P. Coppock 

• Mr Robert J. Goaley 

• Prof Claire L. Jackson 

• Mr Mark G. Johnson 

• Ms Sheena G. Jack (appointed 28 September 2017) 

• Dr Lisa M. McIntyre 

• Mr Russell J. Schneider (retired 26 October 2017) 

• Ms Jane T. Southwell (appointed 26 October 2017) 

• Mr Christopher E. Wright 

PURPOSE OF THE ENTITY  

Our vision is to make health care affordable, understandable, high 
quality and customer centric. To achieve this, we will:  

• empower people by providing innovative insurance solutions that 
are easy to understand, value for money and provide peace of mind; 

• enable high-quality and affordable health care; and 

• build long-term relationships through understanding our members 
and consistently delivering experiences that engage and delight. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES  

The principal activities of HCF and its subsidiaries (referred to as ‘the 
Group’) within Australia during the financial year were:  

• the provision of private health insurance; 

• the provision of accident and illness insurance; 

• the operation of dental centres for members (policyholders) and 
their dependents; and 

• the operation of retirement accommodation. 

These principal activities have directly contributed to HCF achieving its 
objectives. HCF has continued to provide a range of health improvement 
initiatives built around a strong membership base in the health benefits 
fund. The Company’s continued focus on controlling management 
expenses has allowed it to maximise the benefits paid to members 
through innovative product design, whilst minimising the cost to 
members. The Company has invested in a range of ancillary health 
services to promote the health of our members, including MyHealth 
Guardian and other chronic disease management programs. Further, 
the Company has established and contributed to a Foundation whose 
aim is the promotion of medical research that will improve the health of 
all Australians.  

The overall operations of the Company’s private health insurance 
business remain unchanged.  

The net profit after income tax of the Group was $129.4 million (2017: 
$185.0 million). 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  

Management and the Board monitor the Company’s overall 
performance, from its implementation of the vision statement and 
strategic plan through to the performance of the Group against 
operating plans and financial budgets.  

The Board, together with Management, have identified key performance 
indicators (KPIs) that are used to monitor performance. These 
performance indicators include measures of financial performance, 
management expenses and the quality of service provided to members.  

Senior Management monitor KPIs on a regular basis. Directors receive 
the KPIs and other reports for review prior to each Board and Committee 
meeting, allowing all Directors sufficient time to actively monitor the 
Group’s performance.  

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS  

There are no likely developments in the Group entities known at the 
date of this report.  

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS  

During the financial year, the Board of Directors approved the decision 
to dispose of The Heritage retirement village in Hunters Hill, NSW. If it 
proceeds, it is expected the disposal will be finalised in FY2019. In 
October 2017, Manchester Unity Australia Limited closed the More at 
Home community care business.  

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE  

No matters have occurred, other than those disclosed, after the 
balance date that have significantly affected or may significantly affect 
the operations of the Group, the result of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the Group.  

OTHER CORPORATE INFORMATION  

HCF is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company 
limited by guarantee. If the Company is wound up, the constitution 
states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $2 
each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 
June 2018, the collective liability of members is $48 (2017: $48).  

ENVIRONMENTAL  

The Group has observed all environmental regulations governing 
its presence in the local government area where its branches and 
worksites are situated. This includes all HCF’s dental centres, 
retirement facility and community care services of the subsidiaries 
meeting their obligations under environmental protection and 
radiation control legislation covering disposal of clinical waste and  
x-ray radiation standards. The Group was active in energy conservation, 
material recycling and waste reduction practices throughout the year.  

The Group’s activities do not adversely impact on biodiversity of flora 
and wildlife habitats.  

PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

The Company has adopted Class Order 10/654, issued by the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission, permitting entities to continue 
to include parent entity financial statements in their financial reports. 
Entities taking advantage of the relief are not required to present the 
summary parent entity information otherwise required by regulation 
2M.3.01 of the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
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ROUNDING  

The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have 
been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where rounding is applicable) 
and where noted ($000) under the option available to the Company 
under ASIC Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports Instrument 
2016/191. The Company is an entity to which the class order applies. 

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS  

During or since the financial year, the Company has paid premiums 
in respect of contracts insuring any past, present or future Directors, 
Secretaries and other officers of the Company against certain liabilities. 
In accordance with common commercial practices, the insurance 
policies prohibit disclosure of the nature of the liabilities insured 
against and the amount of the premiums.  

INDEMNIFICATION OF AUDITOR  

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify 
its auditor, Ernst & Young, as part of the terms of its audit engagement 
agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for 
an unspecified amount). No payment has been made to indemnify 
Ernst & Young during or since the financial year ended 30 June 2018. 

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS  

The number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) and the number of meetings attended by each Director 
during their term of office in the financial year are:  

 
DIRECTORS’ 
MEETINGS  

AUDIT, RISK AND 
COMPLIANCE 
COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS  

INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS  

NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS  

PEOPLE, 
CULTURE AND 
REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS 

Chair Mr R.J. Goaley Mr M.G. Johnson Mr R.J. Goaley Mr R.J. Goaley Mr R.J. Goaley 

Meetings held: 9 4 4 4 4 

 ATTENDED ATTENDED ATTENDED ATTENDED ATTENDED 

PARENT COMPANY      

J.M. Barrington 9 4 4 4 4 

S.P. Coppock 9 4 4 4 4 

R.J. Goaley 9 41 4 4 4 

S.G. Jack2 8(21) 41 4(21) 31 41 

C.L. Jackson 9 11 4 4 4 

M.G. Johnson 9 4 4 4 41 

L.M. McIntyre 9 4 4 4 41 

R.J. Schneider3 4 11 1 2 2 

J.T. Southwell4 5 31 3(11) 2 2 

C.E. Wright 9 41 4 4 4 

1 Attendance at meeting in the capacity of an invitee.  
2 Ms S.G. Jack was appointed as an Executive Director effective 28 September 2017.  
3 Mr R.J. Schneider retired as a Non-Executive Director effective 26 October 2017.  
4 Ms J.T. Southwell was appointed as a Non-Executive Director effective 26 October 2017. 
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HCF BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

Robert J. Goaley  
FIPA, FAICD  
Chair, Non-Executive Director  
Mr Goaley was elected Chair of the Board of HCF and Manchester 
Unity in November 2012, having been a Non-Executive Director of 
both companies since January 2009. He was appointed as a Director 
of HCF Life in November 2012.  

As Chair, Mr Goaley led the transformation of the HCF Board and 
the introduction of a new constitution to reflect HCF’s commitment 
to its not-for-profit mutual status and the need to adopt contemporary 
governance processes in a highly regulated and complex industry. 
Mr Goaley is committed to the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors’ initiative to target 30% female representation on Boards 
and has delivered on this during his tenure.  

Between 1980 and 2002, Mr Goaley held a number of roles at 
Manchester Unity, including 15 years as Chief Executive Officer. 
During his tenure as CEO, he led the process of re-registration of 
their health insurance business and an increase from $40 million 
to $450 million worth of net assets prior to being acquired by HCF. 
He was responsible for the establishment of Manchester Unity’s 
Retirement and Aged Care Services business which comprised over 
360 units and aged care beds.  

Mr Goaley has extensive experience at executive, Board and Chair 
level in private health insurance, friendly society benefits and 
investment products and the provision of aged care and retirement 
services. He has worked closely with government as an advisor to 
the Minister for Finance and Co-operatives and played an integral 
role in the rewrite of the Friendly Societies Act.  

Mr Goaley was previously a Director of the Australian Health 
Insurance Association, Australian Friendly Societies Association, 
the Australian Health Services Alliance, Sydney Credit Union, 
Manchester Unity Credit Union, Building and Trading, Andrew’s 
Laboratories and Balmain Tigers.  

John M. Barrington  
BComm LLB, FAICD  
Non-Executive Director  
Mr Barrington was elected to the Board of HCF and appointed to the 
Board of Manchester Unity in November 2014 and as a Director of the 
Corporate Trustee of the HCF Research Foundation in April 2017. He 
was Acting Managing Director of HCF between March and July 2017, 
and a Director of HCF Life between May and August 2017.  

Mr Barrington is the Principal of Barrington Legal, a law firm located in 
Sydney, with more than 40 years in practice specialising in insurance 
law, superannuation, banking and finance. He was formerly General 
Counsel for the National Mutual Life Association, Chief Executive of 
CUNA Mutual Limited and Mutual Community Limited. Mr Barrington 
served as Chair of Intrinsic Value Investment Limited and Albert Court 
Aged Care Edgecliff. Until January 2017, he was Chair of Meridian 
Lawyers and a Director of Guild Group Holdings.  

Mr Barrington has extensive experience (both strategically and 
operationally) in financial services and private health insurance, in 
particular relating to financial oversight, regulatory requirements, 
policy frameworks and governance. He has previously served as a 
Council Member of the Private Health Insurance Administration 
Council (PHIAC).  

Mr Barrington brings a unique perspective given his background 
of advising clients, working in organisations subject to complex 
regulatory requirements and providing regulatory oversight in a 
senior governance role within a regulatory body.  

Stuart P. Coppock  
BA, LLB, MBA, LLM, MTax  
Non-Executive Director  
Mr Coppock was elected to the Board of HCF in November 2007 and 
appointed to the Board of Manchester Unity in December 2008.  

Mr Coppock is a lawyer specialising in taxation, commercial law and 
property trusts, and has worked in private, corporate and government 
practice. He has a strong background in community involvement 
and has been a member of the South Eastern Sydney Illawarra Area 
Medical Research Committee, is a local government councillor on 
the Willoughby City Council and has twice been Deputy Mayor.  

Mr Coppock is currently Chair of the Risk and Audit Committee of 
the Institute of Public Works Engineering Australasia (NSW Division) 
and is a Member of the Transport Heritage NSW’s Independent 
Funding and Advisory Panel. Until September 2017, he was Chair of 
Dougherty Apartments, Chatswood, a not-for-profit aged care and 
retirement facility.  

Sheena G. Jack  
BA (Acc), CA, GAICD  
Managing Director  
Ms Jack was appointed Managing Director of HCF in September 2017, 
having held the position of Chief Executive Officer since August 2017. 
She was appointed as a Director of HCF Life in August 2017, a 
Director of the Corporate Trustee of the HCF Research Foundation in 
September 2017 and appointed to the Board of Manchester Unity in 
November 2017.  

As Chief Financial Officer at HCF from 2006, Ms Jack led the 
acquisition and successful integration of Manchester Unity, a 
transaction worth $256 million. In 2014, she was appointed Chief 
Strategy Officer and was responsible for the development of HCF’s 
2020 Strategy, a five year strategic roadmap and vision for the business. 
Focused on driving innovation, she established HCF Catalyst, 
Australia’s first corporate-backed health technology accelerator.  

In her short time as Managing Director, Ms Jack has delivered a new 
business line in Overseas Visitors Health Cover, launched a new 
loyalty program, HCF Thank You, and announced a new organisational 
structure to reflect HCF’s focus on member experience and business 
growth. She has also commenced one of the largest programs of work 
in the business to date, a $140 million Systems Transformation 
project, which will transform HCF’s way of doing business.  

Ms Jack has more than 25 years’ experience as a finance professional 
and corporate executive across various industries, including health 
and life insurance, banking, superannuation and wealth management. 
She also has extensive experience across business transformation. As 
Chief Financial Officer of IAG Financial Services, she had a key role in 
the creation of Clearview and was responsible for the business 
integration when they were purchased by MBF.  

Ms Jack is also a Director of Private Healthcare Australia, the Business 
Council of Co-operatives and Mutuals and Uscom, an ASX listed 
health technology company. 
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Claire L. Jackson  
MBBS, MD, MPH, CertHEcon, GradCert Mgt, FRACGP, FAICD  
Non-Executive Director  
Professor Jackson was elected to the Board of HCF and appointed to 
the Board of Manchester Unity in November 2012. She was appointed 
as a Trustee of the HCF Research Foundation in 2013 and has been a 
Director of the Corporate Trustee since its registration in 2015. She 
has been active in general practice undergraduate and postgraduate 
education and research for many years, and has been extensively 
involved in health services research and reform since the early 1990s.  

Professor Jackson is Director, UQ-MRI Centre for Health System 
Reform and Integration and Professor in Primary Care Research at 
the University of Queensland School of Medicine. She was previously 
a Director of the National Health Performance Authority and was 
National President of the Royal Australian College of General 
Practitioners between 2010 and 2012.  

Professor Jackson served as a Member of the Federal Government’s 
Primary Health Care Advisory Group in 2015 and the National Primary 
Care Strategy Expert Reference Group in 2008. She provided a 
commissioned paper for the National Health and Hospital Reform 
Commission on new models in primary care and is a national 
authority on the Health Care Home. In 2014, she conducted a review 
of after-hours services for Minister Peter Dutton.  

Mark G. Johnson  
BComm, FCA, CPA, FAICD  
Non-Executive Director  
Mr Johnson was elected to the Board of HCF and appointed to the 
Board of Manchester Unity in November 2013. He served as CEO 
and Asian Deputy Chair for PwC from June 2008 until July 2012. Prior 
to becoming CEO, he held a number of leadership positions in PwC 
Australia, including National Managing Partner – Businesses, Managing 
Partner of the Assurance line of service, Managing Partner Assurance 
and Business Advisory Services and Leader Consumer and Industrial 
Products. In these roles, he served on a number of global firm committees.  

Mr Johnson is currently a Director of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited and 
is the Chairman and a Director of G8 Education Limited and 
MH Premium Farms Holdings Pty Ltd. He is also an independent 
Director of Aurecon Group Pty Ltd and is on the Board of Partners 
of Corrs Chambers Westgarth. In the community, he serves on the 
boards of The Smith Family and St Aloysius College and is a member 
of the Advisory Council to the UNSW Australia School of Business. He 
was a Director of Westfield Corporation Limited until June 2018, Chair 
of the Advisory Board to Willis Towers Watson in Australasia until 
December 2016 and a Director of HSBC Bank Australia until April 2017.  

Previously, Mr Johnson was a member of the Australian Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board, the Business Council of Australia 
(and of its Healthy Australia Taskforce) and was Deputy Chair of 
the Finance and Reporting Committee of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. 

Lisa M. McIntyre  
B.Sc (Hons), PhD, GAICD  
Non-Executive Director  
Dr McIntyre was elected to the Board of HCF and appointed to 
the Board of Manchester Unity in October 2011. Dr McIntyre was 
appointed as a Trustee of the HCF Research Foundation in 2013, 
she became Chair in March 2014 and has been a Director of the 
Corporate Trustee since its registration in 2015.  

Since 2002, Dr McIntyre has held a number of directorships and is 
currently a Director of Insurance and Care NSW, Studiosity Pty Ltd 
(previously Tutoring Australia Pty Ltd), Chair of Silex Systems Limited 
and a Senate Fellow of the University of Sydney. She was previously a 

Director of Genesis Care Pty Ltd, I-MED Pty Ltd, the Garvan Institute 
for Medical Research and Cover More Limited.  

Dr McIntyre was formerly a senior partner in global strategic firm 
L.E.K. Consulting for 20 years and was recently elected to its ANZ 
Advisory Board. While at L.E.K, she led the Asia Pacific Healthcare 
practice in Sydney, where she advised healthcare companies and 
organisations on strategy and performance and served on L.E.K.’s Asia 
Pacific Governance Committee. Prior to 2002, she led L.E.K.’s US 
Biotechnology practice in Boston, with a particular focus on 
commercialising innovation in health care.  

Russell J. Schneider  
GAICD  
Non-Executive Director  
Mr Schneider was appointed to the Board of HCF in January 2006 
and to the Board of Manchester Unity in December 2008. He was 
appointed as a Trustee of the HCF Research Foundation in 2006 and 
was a Director of the Corporate Trustee since its registration in 2015. 
Mr Schneider retired from office in October 2017.  

Mr Schneider was formerly the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Australian Health Insurance Association (AHIA) for 22 years, 
concentrating on policy issues relating to health financing and 
delivery, including the private health insurance rebate, Medicare 
Levy Surcharge and Lifetime Health Cover. Prior to joining AHIA, 
he was a journalist and media administrator, and has been published 
extensively, including a commissioned research paper titled Making 
Medicare Better.  

Mr Schneider was made a Member of the Order of Australia in 2008 
for his contribution to the private health insurance industry and 
national health policy development and was made a Life Member 
of the International Federation of Health Plans in 2006 for services 
to the private health sector. For many years, he was a member of 
various Government and industry bodies dealing with private health 
issues as well as the industry representative on the Private Health 
Insurance Administration Council and the Health Insurance Advisory 
Committee. In 2011, he was appointed to the Southern NSW District 
Health Board.  

Jane T. Southwell  
BA, LLB (Hons), GAICD  
Non-Executive Director  
Ms Southwell was elected to the Board of HCF in October 2017 and 
appointed to the Board of Manchester Unity in November 2017. She 
is a lawyer with more than 30 years’ experience in management and 
company secretarial roles, primarily within the financial services 
sector. She has more than 10 years’ experience working with not-for-
profit mutual organisations, including as Executive Director of the 
Australian Friendly Societies Association (the peak industry body 
representing mutual friendly societies to government, regulators and 
the community).  

Ms Southwell has in-depth experience of prudential, legislative and 
regulatory compliance within APRA-regulated institutions, including 
working closely with regulators, overseeing actuarial services and 
managing the merger of mutual entities.  

Ms Southwell was previously Principal Executive Officer and 
Company Secretary for Norwich Union Friendly Society Limited 
and has held senior executive management roles, including Principal 
of Medley Hall, a residential college of the University of Melbourne, 
and project management roles with the Biotechnology & Ethics Unit, 
Department of Human Services (VIC). Ms Southwell has recently 
retired as Company Secretary for Daylesford District Community 
Developments Limited and is pursuing her research and teaching 
interest in the field of mindfulness. 
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Christopher E. Wright  
FAICD, FAIM  
Non-Executive Director  
Mr Wright was elected to the Board of HCF and appointed to the Board 
of Manchester Unity in November 2012. He has been involved with the 
not-for-profit mutual financial services sector for over 40 years and has 
extensive experience in senior executive roles and as a company 
director. He was Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of the 
Lifeplan Funds Management Group from 1992 to 2009.  

Mr Wright has also been a Director of the not-for-profit retail community 
pharmacy group, National Pharmacies, Director of the Customer 
Owned Banking Association (previously Abacus-Australian 
Mutuals) and Chair of the Australian Friendly Societies Association. 
He was also Chair of the Australian Institute of Management (SA) 
and a Director of its national board. He is currently Chair of the St. 
Andrew’s Hospital Foundation Inc. in South Australia.  

COMPANY SECRETARY  

Martine Forrester  
LLB, GAICD, GIA (Cert)  
Ms Forrester joined HCF as General Manager, Governance and 
Assurance in January 2013. She was Company Secretary of HCF and 
its subsidiaries from February 2013 until 13 July 2018. Ms Forrester 
has extensive Australian and international corporate and financial 
services experience from her previous senior roles in international law 
firms and global investment banks, as well as serving as a Director of a 
charitable foundation. She has been a lawyer for over 20 years.  

Harry Robertson  
BComm (Hons), CA, ANZIIF (Fellow) CIP  
Mr Robertson joined HCF as Chief Financial Officer in February 2018. 
He was appointed Company Secretary of HCF and its subsidiaries on 
13 July 2018.  

Mr Robertson is responsible for finance, internal audit and strategic 
sourcing of the HCF Group and has more than 20 years of experience 
spanning health, financial services and corporate finance.  

From 2011 until joining HCF, Mr Robertson held the role of Finance 
Director at Bupa Health Insurance Australia. He was previously both 
the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Risk Officer of Suncorp Personal 
Insurance and has held various corporate finance and advisory 
consulting roles at PwC and Deloitte. 
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R.J. Goaley  
Chair  

Sydney  
30 August 2018 

 

We have obtained an independence declaration from our auditors, Ernst & Young, which is set out below and forms part of the Directors’ Report 
for the year ended 30 June 2018.  

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.  
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION TO THE DIRECTORS OF THE HOSPITALS CONTRIBUTION FUND OF 
AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
NOTE 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

Continuing operations      

Net premium revenue 1 2,641,479 2,528,715 2,600,231 2,489,813 

Claims expense 2 (2,279,430)  (2,140,134) (2,268,109)  (2,130,245) 

Health benefits risk equalisation special account levies & life recoveries 2 2,287  (13,525) 1,402  (14,171) 

State ambulance levies 2 (46,561)  (45,592) (46,561)  (45,592) 

Net claims expense  (2,323,704) (2,199,251) (2,313,268) (2,190,008) 

Underwriting result before expenses  317,775 329,464 286,963 299,805 

Movement in policyholders’ liabilities 2 (853) (205) – – 

Acquisition costs 2 (118,113) (117,385) (113,794) (111,872) 

Other underwriting expenses 2 (129,188) (99,831) (125,722) (97,055) 

Underwriting result 3 69,621 112,043 47,447 90,878 

Finance and investment income 1 64,516 77,220 60,118 116,381 

Other income 1 7,685 8,369 24,323 25,767 

Finance, investment and other income  72,201 85,589 84,441 142,148 

Impairment expense 2 – – (500) (44,520) 

Other expenses 2 (9,810) (6,918) (9,687) (6,480) 

Profit before income tax  132,012 190,714 121,701 182,026 

Income tax expense 4(a) (2,445) (3,778) – – 

NET PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX  129,567 186,936 121,701 182,026 

Discontinued operations      

Loss from discontinued operations before income tax  (526) (2,090) – – 

Income tax benefit  356 146 – – 

Net loss after income tax from discontinued operations 18 (170) (1,944) – – 

TOTAL NET PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX  129,397 184,992 121,701 182,026 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENSE, NET OF TAX      

Will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss      

Fair value revaluation of land and buildings  77,117 8,592 77,117 8,592 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax  77,117 8,592 77,117 8,592 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  206,514 193,584 198,818 190,618 

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
As at 30 June 2018 

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
NOTE 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 5(b) 77,596 84,528 70,622 74,136 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 1,715,725 1,610,138 1,666,329 1,559,975 

Investments relating to life insurance business 16 57,357 49,239 – – 

Trade receivables and other assets 6 97,921 92,491 97,612 91,593 

Inventories  165 143 165 143 

Deferred tax assets 4(c) 812 937 – – 

Property, plant and equipment 8 294,335 177,297 294,328 177,272 

Investment property 9 48,120 55,000 38,680 46,520 

Investments in controlled entities 17 – – 22,510 25,285 

Intangible assets 10 114,031 108,042 113,952 107,753 

Assets held for sale 18 9,265 7,769 – – 

Total assets  2,415,327 2,185,584 2,304,198 2,082,677 

Liabilities       

Trade and other payables 11 100,591 91,349 99,711 90,557 

Unearned premium liabilities 12 315,369 314,502 315,369 314,502 

Claims liabilities 15 180,994 166,116 180,994 166,116 

Current tax liabilities 4(d) 550 444 – – 

Provisions 13 21,833 22,493 21,370 21,905 

Finance lease liabilities 20 3,735 5,396 3,735 5,396 

Investment linked contract liabilities  66 78 – – 

Life insurance and other investment contract liabilities  (9,718) (10,308) – – 

Deferred tax liabilities 4(c) 1,648 1,192 – – 

Minority interest 17 49,396 50,163 – – 

Liabilities held for sale 18 2,121 1,931 – – 

Total liabilities  666,585 643,356 621,179 598,476 

NET ASSETS  1,748,742 1,542,228 1,683,019 1,484,201 

Guarantors’ equity      

Reserves  156,999 79,882 150,860 73,743 

Retained earnings and unallocated funds  1,591,743 1,462,346 1,532,159 1,410,458 

Total guarantors’ equity  1,748,742 1,542,228 1,683,019 1,484,201 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
NOTE 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities      

Receipts from members and customers  2,645,051 2,551,546 2,601,054 2,511,379 

Receipts from retention fees/other fees  1,032 375 – – 

Benefits and levies paid  (2,302,347) (2,203,794) (2,291,635) (2,193,690) 

Risk equalisation receipts/(payments)  1,402 (14,171) 1,402 (14,171) 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (248,954) (222,214) (235,676) (206,848) 

Interest received  3,412 4,458 1,065 1,151 

Income tax paid  (1,631) (6,376) – – 

Rental and commissions received  4,086 5,422 4,003 4,725 

Receipts from other parties  4,834 (4,060) 20,322 11,823 

Net cash flows from operating activities 5(a) 106,885 111,186 100,535  114,369 

Cash flows from investing activities      

Proceeds of sale on property, plant and equipment  36 2,675 36  2,675 

Return of capital contribution  – – 2,275 – 

Proceeds from sale of investments  123,109 220,018 106,034  204,326 

Purchases of investments  (185,591) (324,961) (161,547)  (308,070) 

Purchases of investment property  (829) – (829) – 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment, software  (48,683) (63,185) (48,358)  (62,691) 

Dividend received  – – – 45,000 

Net cash flows used for investing activities  (111,958) (165,453) (102,389) (118,760) 

Cash flows from financing activities      

Payments of finance lease liabilities  (1,660) (1,660) (1,660) (1,660) 

Net cash flows used for financing activities  (1,660) (1,660) (1,660) (1,660) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (6,733) (55,927) (3,514) (6,051) 

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period  84,901 140,828 74,136 80,187 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 5(b) 78,168 84,901 70,622 74,136 

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
NOTE 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

Retained earnings      

Balance at start of period  1,462,346 1,277,354 1,410,458 1,228,432 

Net profit after income tax – continuing operations  129,567 186,936 121,701 182,026 

Net loss after income tax – discontinued operations  (170) (1,944) – – 

BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD  1,591,743 1,462,346 1,532,159 1,410,458 

Asset revaluation reserve1      

Balance at start of period  79,882 71,290 73,743 65,151 

Fair value revaluation of land and buildings  77,117 8,592 77,117 8,592 

BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD  156,999 79,882 150,860 73,743 

Total equity      

Balance at start of period  1,542,228 1,348,644 1,484,201 1,293,583 

Total comprehensive income  206,514 193,584 198,818 190,618 

BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD  1,748,742 1,542,228 1,683,019 1,484,201 

1 The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings to the extent that they offset one another.  

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



THE HOSPITALS CONTRIBUTION FUND OF AUSTRALIA LIMITED FINANCIAL REPORT | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
 

12 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

KEY NUMBERS 

ABOUT THIS REPORT  

The Hospitals Contribution Fund of Australia Limited (referred to 
as the ‘Company’, ‘Parent Entity’ or ‘HCF’) is a company limited by 
guarantee. It operates on a not-for-profit basis and is incorporated in 
Australia in the state of New South Wales. The Hospitals Contribution 
Fund of Australia Limited is the parent entity and is the ultimate parent 
entity. The registered address of the Company is 403 George Street, 
Sydney, NSW, 2000.  

The consolidated general purpose financial report of the Group for the 
year ended 30 June 2018 was authorised for issue in accordance with 
a resolution of the Directors on 30 August 2018. The Directors have 
the power to amend and reissue the financial report.  

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which:  

• has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB);  

• has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial 
instruments, certain classes of property, plant and equipment, 
investment properties and insurance assets backing policy 
liabilities, which have been measured at fair value;  

• is presented in Australian dollars with all values rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($000) unless otherwise stated, in 
accordance with ASIC Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports 
Instrument 2016/191; 

• presents reclassified comparative information where required 
for consistency with the current year’s presentation; 

• adopts all new and amended Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant to the 
operations of the Group and effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2017. Refer to Note 26 for further 
details; and  

• does not early adopt any Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
that have been issued or amended but are not yet effective. Refer to 
Note 26 for further details.  

Basis of consolidation  
The Hospitals Contribution Fund of Australia Limited and its 
subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the 
‘Group’ or the ‘consolidated entity’. Subsidiaries are all entities 
(including structured entities) over which the Group has control. 
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from 
the date that control ceases.  

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the 
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. Intercompany transactions, 
balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group 
companies are eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Group, except where these may be required 
by accounting standards.  

HCF Life insurance  
The Group’s life insurance operations are conducted within separate 
statutory funds of HCF Life Pty Ltd (‘HCF Life’) as required by the Life 
Insurance Act 1995. The assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the 
life funds are included within the consolidated financial statements. 
Transactions and outstanding balances between HCF Life and other 
entities within the Group are eliminated. 

Parent entity financial statements  
The Company has adopted Class Order 10/654, issued by the 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission, permitting 
entities to continue to include parent entity financial statements in 
their financial reports. Entities taking advantage of the relief are not 
required to present the summary parent entity information otherwise 
required by regulation 2M.3.01 of the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations  
The Group classifies assets and disposal groups as held for sale if 
their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale 
rather than through continuing use. Such assets and disposal groups 
classified as held for sale or as held for distribution are measured at 
the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only 
when the distribution is highly probable and the asset or disposal 
group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions 
required to complete the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that 
significant changes to the proposed sale will be made or that the 
proposed sale will be withdrawn. Management must be committed 
to the sale within one year from the date of the classification.  

During the financial year, the Board of Directors approved the decision 
to dispose of The Heritage retirement village in Hunters Hill, NSW. If it 
proceeds, it is expected the disposal will be finalised in FY2019. In 
October 2017, Manchester Unity Australia Limited closed the More 
at Home community care business.  

Foreign currency  
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the 
functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
Statement of Financial Position date. Exchange rate differences arising 
from the application of these procedures are taken to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.  

Other accounting policies  
Significant and other accounting policies that summarise the 
measurement basis used are relevant to an understanding of the 
financial statements and are provided throughout the notes to the 
financial statements.  

Key judgements and estimates  
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management 
has made a number of judgements and applied estimates of future 
events. Judgements and estimates which are material to the financial 
report are found in the following notes:  

• Note 3. Health insurance underwriting result 

• Note 8. Property, plant and equipment 

• Note 9. Investment property 

• Note 10. Intangible assets 

• Note 12. Unearned premium liabilities and unexpired risk liability 

• Note 14. Employee entitlements and superannuation commitments 

• Note 15. Claims liabilities 
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The notes include information which is required to understand the 
financial statements and is material and relevant to the operations, 
financial position and performance of the Group. Information is 
considered material and relevant if:  

• the amount in question is significant because of its size or nature; 

• it is important for understanding the results of the Group; 

• it helps to explain the impact of significant changes in the Group’s 
business – for example, acquisitions and impairment, write-downs; 
or 

• it relates to an aspect of the Group’s operations that is important to 
its future performance. 

The notes are organised into the following sections:  

• Key numbers provides a breakdown of individual line items in the 
financial statements that the Directors consider most relevant and 
summarises the accounting policies, judgements and estimates 
relevant to understanding these line items.  

• Risk discusses the Group’s exposure to various financial risks, 
explains how these affect the Group’s financial position and 
performance and what the Group does to manage these risks.  

• Group structure explains aspects of the Group structure and how 
changes have affected the financial position and performance of 
the Group.  

• Unrecognised items provides information about items that are not 
recognised in the financial statements but could potentially have an 
impact on the Group’s financial position and performance; and 
relates to an aspect of the Group’s operations that is important to 
its future performance.  

• Other provides information on items which require disclosure to 
comply with Australian Accounting Standards and other regulatory 
pronouncements; however, are not considered critical in 
understanding the financial performance or position of the Group.
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1. INCOME 

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

(a) Health insurance      

Premium revenue 3 2,600,231 2,489,813 2,600,231 2,489,813 

Finance, investment and other income      

Interest income  1,065 1,151 1,065 1,151 

Distribution income  37,717 55,687 37,717 55,687 

Dividend income  – – – 45,000 

Movements in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  4,881 13,405 4,881 13,405 

Changes in the fair value of investment in unit trust  16,455 1,138 16,455 1,138 

Total finance and investment income  60,118 71,381 60,118 116,381 

Rent income  3,791 4,527 4,003 4,725 

Gain on disposal of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets  36 43 36 43 

Other  3,033 3,050 20,284 20,999 

Total other income  6,860 7,620 24,323 25,767 

Total finance, investment and other income  66,978 79,001 84,441 142,148 

TOTAL HEALTH INSURANCE INCOME  2,667,209 2,568,814 2,684,672 2,631,961 

(b) Manchester Unity      

Continuing operations      

Changes in value of property through profit or loss  960 1,580 – – 

Interest income  172 808 – – 

Total finance and investment income  1,132 2,388 – – 

Other income  770 706 – – 

Total continuing operations income  1,902 3,094 – – 

Discontinued operations income 18 2,208 1,599 – – 

TOTAL MANCHESTER UNITY INCOME  4,110 4,693 – – 

(c) HCF Life Insurance      

Life insurance net premium revenue  41,248 38,902 – – 

Finance, investment and other income      

Distribution income  1,766 1,088 – – 

Interest income  653 961 – – 

Movements in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  847 1,402 – – 

Total finance and investment income  3,266 3,451 – – 

Other income  55 43 – – 

Total other income  55 43 – – 

TOTAL HCF LIFE INCOME  44,569 42,396 – – 

TOTAL INCOME  2,715,888 2,615,903 2,684,672 2,631,961 
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Recognition and measurement  
Revenue  
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable. Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be 
reliably measured.  

(i) Health insurance premium revenue  
Premium revenue comprises contributions received from members, 
inclusive of the government rebate. This is measured from the 
attachment date in accordance with the pattern of the incidence 
of risk expected over the term of the insurance cover.  

The proportion of premium received or receivable but not earned 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income at the reporting date is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as an unearned 
premium liability.  

(ii) Life insurance net premium revenue  

Life insurance contracts  
Premium amounts earned by providing services and bearing insurance 
risks are recognised as revenue.  

These premium amounts received, which are akin to deposits, are 
recognised as an increase in policy liabilities. Premiums due after 
but received before the end of the financial year are shown as 
unearned premium liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position. 
Net premium revenue consists of gross premium revenue less 
reinsurance premiums. 

Investment contracts  
The nature of the wealth management business is that HCF Life 
receives deposits from policyholders and these funds are invested on 
behalf of the policyholders. There is no premium revenue recognised 
in respect of the life investment contracts. These premium amounts 
received, which are akin to deposits, are recognised as an increase in 
policy liabilities.  

Income  
(i) Distribution income  
Distribution income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive 
the income is established.  

(ii) Dividend income  
Dividend income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.  

(iii) Movement in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets 
designated as fair value through profit and loss at initial recognition. 
This includes assets backing insurance liabilities.  

(iv) Rent income  
Rent income consists of rent from investment properties. Rent received 
under operating leases and initial direct costs are recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  

(v) Interest income  
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method, 
which applies the interest rate that discounts exactly the estimated 
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument, 
or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of 
the financial instrument.  

(vi) Fair value increments/decrements  
Fair value gains on investment properties are recognised when 
they arise. 

 

  

1. INCOME (CONTINUED) 
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2. EXPENSES 

  

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
NOTE 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

Expenses as presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income      

Continuing operations      

Claims expense  2,279,430 2,140,134 2,268,109 2,130,245 

Health benefits risk equalisation special account levies and Life recoveries 3 (2,287) 13,525 (1,402) 14,171 

State ambulance levies 3 46,561 45,592 46,561 45,592 

Movement in policyholders’ liabilities – HCF Life  853 205 – – 

Acquisition costs  118,113 117,385 113,794 111,872 

Other underwriting expenses  129,188 99,831 125,722 97,055 

Impairment expense  – – 500 44,520 

Other expenses  9,810 6,918 9,687 6,480 

Discontinued operations 18 2,734 3,689 – – 

TOTAL EXPENSES  2,584,402 2,427,279 2,562,971 2,449,935 

The key items include the following:       

Movement in deferred acquisition costs  1,224 1,638 1,224 1,638 

Movement in claims liabilities  14,878 15,496 14,878 15,496 

Salaries and employee benefits  146,906 122,908 142,092 116,906 

Loss on disposal of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets  835 1,245 837 1,245 

Rental – operating leases  18,387 12,886 18,308 12,811 

Depreciation and amortisation of:       

• Property, plant and equipment 8 14,916 9,136 14,720 8,956 

• Intangible assets 10 3,669 2,236 3,507 2,134 

Life insurance expenses      

Net claims expense  10,436 9,243 – – 

Policy acquisition expenses  4,319 5,513 – – 

Policy maintenance expenses  22,104 20,797 – – 
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Recognition and measurement  
Expenses  
Expenses are consumptions or losses of future economic benefits in 
the form of reductions in assets or increases in liabilities of the Group. 
An expense is recognised to the extent that is probable that the 
consumption or loss of future economic benefits resulting in a 
reduction in assets and/or an increase in liabilities has occurred 
and can be measured reliably.  

Claims expense – health insurance  
The claims expense represents current period claims payments 
during the year adjusted by the movement in the outstanding claims 
liability. Refer to Note 15 for details on the outstanding claims liability.  

Claims expense – HCF Life  

Life insurance contracts  
Claims are recognised when the liability to the policyholder under the 
policy has been established or upon notification of the insured event, 
depending on the type of claim. Claims are separated into their expense 
and liability components. Claims incurred that relate to the provision 
of services or bearing of risks are treated as expenses and these are 
recognised on an accruals basis once the liability to the policy owner 
has been established under the terms of the contract. Net claims 
expense consists of gross claims expense less reinsurance recoveries.  

Investment contracts  
There are no claims expenses in respect of investment contracts. Claims 
incurred in respect of investment contracts represent investment 
withdrawals and are recognised as a reduction in policy liabilities.  

Acquisition costs  
Acquisition costs incurred in obtaining life and health insurance 
contracts are deferred and recognised as assets where they can be 
reliably measured and where it is probable that they will give rise to 
premium revenue that will be recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in subsequent reporting periods.  

Deferred acquisition costs are amortised systematically in accordance 
with the expected pattern of the incidence of risk under the insurance 
contracts to which they relate. This pattern of amortisation corresponds 
to the earning pattern of the corresponding premium revenue. 

Health benefits risk equalisation special account levies and 
life recoveries  
Under the provisions of the Private Health Insurance Act 2007, all 
health insurers must participate in the Risk Equalisation Special 
Account (‘RESA’).  

The RESA is an estimated accrual based upon an industry survey of 
eligible claims based upon both age and the size of the claim.  

The final amounts receivable from the RESA are determined by the 
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (‘APRA’) after the end of 
each calendar quarter. Estimated provisions for amounts payable and 
income receivable are recognised on an accrual basis.  

Operating leases  
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability 
when received and released to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

Fixed rate increases to lease payments, excluding contingent or index 
based rental increases, are recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.  

An asset or liability is recognised for the difference between the 
amount paid and the lease expense recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis.  

Depreciation and amortisation  
Refer to Note 8 for details on depreciation and amortisation. 

  

2. EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 
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3. HEALTH INSURANCE UNDERWRITING RESULT 

 

  

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Net premium revenue  2,600,231 2,489,813 2,600,231 2,489,813 

Direct claims expenses  (2,253,231) (2,114,749) (2,253,231) (2,114,749) 

Movement in outstanding claims provision  (14,878) (15,496) (14,878) (15,496) 

Health benefits risk equalisation special account refunds/(levies)  1,402 (14,171) 1,402 (14,171) 

State ambulance levies  (46,561) (45,592) (46,561) (45,592) 

Net claims expense 15 (2,313,268) (2,190,008) (2,313,268) (2,190,008) 

Acquisition costs  (113,794) (111,872) (113,794) (111,872) 

Other underwriting expenses  (125,418) (97,882) (125,722) (97,055) 

Underwriting result  47,751 90,051 47,447 90,878 

Gross claims expense  (2,314,670) (2,175,837) (2,314,670) (2,175,837) 

Risk equalisation special account and other charges  1,402 (14,171) 1,402 (14,171) 

Net claims expense (undiscounted)  (2,313,268) (2,190,008) (2,313,268) (2,190,008) 

The net claims are not discounted as the majority of claims in health insurance are resolved within one year. 

Key judgement: Health insurance contracts  
Insurance contracts are defined as those containing significant insurance risk at the inception of the contract, or those where at the inception 
of the contract there is a scenario with commercial substance where the level of insurance risk may be significant over time. The significance 
of insurance risk is dependent on both the probability of an insurance event and the magnitude of its potential effect.  

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for the remainder of its lifetime, even if the 
insurance risk reduces significantly during this period. The Group has determined that all current health insurance contracts issued to 
members are insurance contracts. 
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4. INCOME TAX 

 

  

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

(a) Income tax expense      

The composition of the total income tax expense is as follows:      

Total current income tax expense  1,735 1,590 – – 

Under/(over) provision for the previous year  2 (44) – – 

Deferred income tax attributable to future years:       

Deferred income tax  452 410 – – 

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  (4) 45 – – 

(Over)/under provision for the previous year – charged to profit or loss  (96) 1,631 – – 

Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income  2,089 3,632 – – 

(b) A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting 
profit before income tax multiplied by the company’s applicable income 
tax rate is as follows:  

    
 

Accounting profit before income tax  131,486 188,624 121,701 182,026 

At the company statutory income tax rate of 30% (2017: 30%)  39,446 56,587 36,510 54,608 

Less: non–assessable income  (37,113) (54,544) (36,510) (54,608) 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible in calculating taxable income:  – 94 – – 

Tax offsets and credits  (145) (102) – – 

Permanent differences due to movement in investment contract liabilities  (17) – – – 

Non–deductible items  3 6 – – 

Other items  10 4 – – 

(Over)/under provision for the previous years after excluding amounts 
attributable to policyholders 

 (95) 1,587 – – 

Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income  2,089 3,632 – – 

(c) Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities      

Balance at start of period  (1,951) 136 – – 

Charged to profit or loss  (447) (456) – – 

Over/(under) provided in previous years – charged to profit or loss  96 (1,631) – – 

Balance at end of period  (2,302) (1,951) – – 

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position      

Deferred tax assets – continuing operations  812 937 – – 

Deferred tax assets – assets held for sale 18 541 139 – – 

Deferred tax liabilities – continuing operations  (1,648) (1,192) – – 

Deferred tax liabilities – liabilities held for sale 18 (2,007) (1,835) – – 

Balance at end of period  (2,302) (1,951) – – 
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4. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 

 

  

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:       

(i) Deferred tax liabilities       

Revaluations of financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss  2,148 1,575 – – 

Temporary timing differences  1,495 1,440 – – 

Provisions and accruals  12 12 – – 

Gross deferred tax liabilities 4(c) 3,655 3,027 – – 

(ii) Deferred tax assets      

Revaluations of financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss  (45) (260) – – 

Temporary timing differences  4 (44) – – 

Provisions and accruals  515 896 – – 

Tax losses  845 407 – – 

Other  34 77 – – 

Gross deferred tax assets 4(c) 1,353 1,076 – – 

NET DEFERRED TAX  (2,302) (1,951) – – 

(d) Movements in income tax payable       

Balance at start of period  444 5,273 – – 

Reclassification to deferred tax assets  – 236 – – 

Charged to profit or loss  1,735 1,354 – – 

Other payments  (1,631) (6,376) – – 

Over provision in the previous year  – (52) – – 

Transfer to current tax liability  2 9 – – 

Balance at end of period  550 444 – – 

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position      

Current tax liability  550 444 – – 

INCOME TAX PAYABLE  550 444 – – 

The Hospitals Contribution Fund of Australia Limited is exempt from income tax for health insurance business.  

HCF Life Insurance Company Limited (‘HCF Life’) and Manchester Unity Australia Ltd (‘Manchester Unity’) are subject to income tax. 
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Recognition and measurement  
Current and deferred tax is reported under three taxable stand-alone 
entities:  

• HCF Life; 

• Manchester Unity, which comprises the the Retirement facility, 
More at Home and Management Fund business units; and 

• Treytell Pty Ltd. 

Current and deferred tax has been determined in each of the Group’s 
subsidiaries on a stand-alone basis.  

Current taxes  
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to taxation authorities at the tax rates 
and tax laws enacted or substantively enacted by the Statement of 
Financial Position date.  

Deferred taxes  
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carried forward unused tax assets and unused 
tax losses, to the extent it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
to utilise them.  

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the 
Statement of Financial Position date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
utilise them.  

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the Statement of Financial 
Position date.  

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences at the 
Statement of Financial Position date between accounting carrying 
amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities, other than for the 
following:  

• where they arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss; and 

• where taxable temporary differences relate to investments in 
subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures: 

i) Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.  

ii) Deferred tax assets are not recognised if it is not probable that 
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 
and taxable profit will not be available to utilise the temporary 
differences.  

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised on recognition of goodwill. 
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are 
recognised in equity and not in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.  

Offsetting deferred tax balances  
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a 
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate 
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

  

4. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 
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5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

(a) Reconciliation of net profit after tax to the net cash flows from operations       

Net profit after tax  129,397 184,992 121,701 182,026 

Adjustments for:       

Depreciation and amortisation  18,585 11,372 18,227 11,090 

Loss on disposal of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets  835 1,245 837 1,245 

Movements in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  3,330 (13,704) 3,330 (13,405) 

Changes in the fair value of investment in unit trust  (15,989) (1,138) (16,455) (1,138) 

Dividend income  – – – (45,000) 

Impairment expense  – – 500 44,520 

Revaluation of investment property  (9,562) (9,585) (8,211) (8,499) 

Distribution income  (37,717) (55,687) (37,717) (55,687) 

Movements in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of HCF Life  (847) (1,402) – – 

Changes in assets and liabilities      

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables and other assets  (2,134) 1,370 (2,414) 1,459 

Increase in deferred acquisition costs  (1,224) (1,638) (1,224) (1,638) 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (2,381) 980 (2,381) 493 

Decrease in income tax benefit  – 381 – – 

Decrease in inventories  (22) (67) (22) 200 

Increase in deferred tax assets  (277) (169) – – 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  9,273 (40,155) 9,154 (38,676) 

Increase in unearned premium liabilities  867 20,568 867 20,568 

Increase in claims liabilities  14,878 15,496 14,878 15,496 

Increase/(decrease) in current tax liabilities  106 (5,210) – – 

(Decrease)/increase in provisions  (673) 1,245 (535) 1,315 

Decrease/(increase) in policyholders’ liabilities  579 (501) – – 

Increase in deferred tax liabilities  628 2,256 – – 

(Decrease)/increase in minority interest  (767) 537 – – 

Net cash flows from operating activities  106,885 111,186 100,535 114,369 

(b) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents      

Cash balance comprises:      

Continuing operations      

• Cash on hand  40,377 41,756 37,688 37,935 

• Short–term deposits  37,219 42,772 32,934 36,201 

Discontinued operations      

• Cash on hand – assets held for sale  572 373 – – 

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  78,168 84,901 70,622 74,136 

Recognition and measurement  
Cash at bank and on deposit  
For Statement of Cash Flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily converted to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to insignificant risk of change in value. 
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6. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS 

Recognition and measurement  
Trade receivables generally have terms of up to 30 days. They are 
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. 
The carrying value of trade and other receivables are expected to 
settle within 12 months from the reporting date.  

Impairment of receivables  
Collectability and impairment are assessed on an ongoing basis. 
Impairment is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 
collect the debts. Financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that 
the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and 
default or delinquency in payments are considered objective evidence 
of impairment. The amount of the impairment loss is the receivable 
carrying amount compared to the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash 
flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the 
effect of discounting is immaterial.  

Debts that are known to be uncollectable are written off when 
identified. If an amount is subsequently recovered, it is credited 
against profit or loss.  

 

Private health insurance rebates  
If a policyholder elects to claim the private health insurance rebate as 
a reduction in the amount of premium they pay, a receivable for the 
rebate is recognised in the month in which the premium is received 
from the policyholder. This is generally received from the Government 
within approximately two weeks of the receipt of the policyholder 
premium.  

Other receivables  
All other receivables amounts generally arise from transactions 
outside the usual operating activities of the Group. They do not 
contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on past credit 
history, it is expected that these balances will be received when due.  

Premiums in arrears  
The Group recognises premiums in arrears up to two months after 
the last financial date paid to. Premiums in arrears are adjusted to 
take into account the probability of receiving the revenue. The 
probability factors is the Groups best estimate of the probability of 
receiving the funds based upon past experience. The premiums in 
arrears considered to be impaired or non-collectable at 30 June 2018 
is $0.1 million (2017: $0.1 million). Unless otherwise stated above, all 
other receivables are expected to be settled within 30–60 days. 

 

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Private Health Insurance rebate receivables  65,748 65,551 65,748 65,551 

Other receivables  13,663 11,880 13,374 11,003 

Premiums in arrears  7,251 7,405 7,251 7,405 

Deferred acquisition costs  5,857 4,633 5,857 4,633 

Prepayments  5,382 3,008 5,382 3,001 

Interest receivable  20 14  – – 

TOTAL TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS  97,921 92,491 97,612 91,593 
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7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Short-term deposits  11,096 8,418 11,096 8,418 

Holdings in unlisted unit trust      

• JANA Tailored Trust No. 31  1,666,927 1,558,521 1,617,531 1,508,358 

Holdings in unlisted foreign trust  35,202 40,699 35,202 40,699 

Holdings in other direct investments  2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS  1,715,725 1,610,138 1,666,329 1,559,975 

Maturity analysis of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss      

• No longer than three months  11,096 8,418 11,096 8,418 

• No maturity specified  1,704,629 1,601,720 1,655,233 1,551,557 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS  1,715,725 1,610,138 1,666,329 1,559,975 

1 JANA Tailored Trust No. 3 – Liquidity overview:  
• Units in the trust are realisable for cash within five business days; and  
• In a typical year, between 10% and 25% of the holdings may be redeemed and reinvested.  

Recognition and measurement  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets designated as fair value through profit or loss at initial recognition.  

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus the transaction costs. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or been transferred following a 
transfer of ownership.  

The fair value of investments traded in financial markets are determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the 
Statement of Financial Position date. Unlisted unit trusts are recorded at fund managers’ valuation. Other valuation techniques are used to 
determine the fair value for all other unlisted securities.  

Refer to Note 17 for more detail on the investment in JANA Tailored Trust No. 3. 
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

  

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

(a) Carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the end of the  
financial year 

     

Freehold land      

At fair value 8(b) 74,810 66,160 74,810 66,160 

Buildings on freehold land      

At fair value 8(b) 141,413 52,005 141,413 52,005 

Total freehold land and buildings  216,223 118,165 216,223 118,165 

Leasehold improvements      

At cost  3,628 3,970 3,628 3,970 

Accumulated depreciation  (2,204) (2,427) (2,204) (2,427) 

Total leasehold improvements 8(b) 1,424 1,543 1,424 1,543 

Plant, equipment, furniture and fittings, and motor vehicles      

At cost  119,820 94,878 119,689 94,625 

Accumulated depreciation  (43,132) (37,289) (43,008) (37,061) 

Total plant, equipment, furniture and fittings, motor vehicles1 8(b) 76,688 57,589 76,681  57,564  

Total property, plant and equipment, furniture and fittings, and motor vehicles      

At fair value  216,223 118,165 216,223 118,165 

At cost  123,448 98,848 123,317 98,595 

Total property, plant and equipment, furniture and fittings, and motor vehicles  339,671 217,013 339,540 216,760 

Accumulated depreciation  (45,336) (39,716) (45,212) (39,488) 

NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE AND FITTINGS, AND 
MOTOR VEHICLES 

8(b) 294,335 177,297 294,328 177,272 

1 During the year, plant and equipment, furniture and fittings, and motor vehicles to the value of $9.8 million (2017: $14.9 million) were fully depreciated and disposed of by the Group. 
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

  

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

(b) Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at 
the beginning and end of the financial year  

     

Freehold land       

Balance at start of period  66,160 48,280 66,160 48,280 

Net amount of revaluation increments  8,650 17,880 8,650 17,880 

Total freehold land 8(a) 74,810 66,160 74,810 66,160 

Buildings on freehold land      

Balance at start of period  52,005 27,729 52,005 27,729 

Additions  6,398 21,185 6,398 21,185 

Transfer  16,880 12,936 16,880 12,936 

Depreciation expense  (2,337) (557) (2,337) (557) 

Net amount of revaluation increments/(decrements)  68,467 (9,288) 68,467 (9,288) 

Total buildings on freehold land 8(a) 141,413 52,005 141,413 52,005 

Leasehold improvements      

Balance at start of period  1,543 23 1,543 23 

Additions  204 2,077 204 2,077 

Disposals  – (16) – (16) 

Depreciation expense  (323) (541) (323) (541) 

Total leasehold improvements 8(a) 1,424 1,543 1,424 1,543 

Plant and equipment      

Balance at start of period  57,589 49,952 57,564 49,160 

Additions  32,222 32,333 31,770 31,857 

Transfer  – (12,936) – (12,936) 

Disposals  (645) (2,659) (593) (2,659) 

Depreciation expense  (12,256) (8,038) (12,060) (7,858) 

Discontinued operations – assets held for sale  (222) (1,063) – – 

Total plant and equipment 8(a) 76,688 57,589 76,681 57,564 

Total balance at end of period      

Balance at start of period  177,297 125,984 177,272 125,192 

Additions  38,824 55,595 38,372 55,119 

Transfer  16,880 – 16,880 – 

Disposals  (645) (2,675) (593) (2,675) 

Depreciation expense 2 (14,916) (9,136) (14,720) (8,956) 

Net amount of revaluation increments  77,117 8,592 77,117 8,592 

Discontinued operations – assets held for sale  (222) (1,063) – – 

TOTAL BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD 8(a) 294,335 177,297 294,328 177,272 
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Recognition and measurement  
Freehold land and buildings  

Cost and valuation  
Freehold land and buildings are measured on a fair value basis. At 
each reporting date, the value of each asset in these classes is 
reviewed to ensure that it does not materially differ from the asset’s 
fair value at that date. Refer to Note 16 for the fair value measurement 
hierarchy of the Group’s freehold land and buildings.  

Where necessary, the asset is revalued to reflect its fair value. 
Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and 
buildings are credited to the asset revaluation reserve in guarantors’ 
equity. To the extent that the increase reverses a decrease previously 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the increase 
is first recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

Decreases that reverse previous increases of the same asset are first 
charged against revaluation reserve directly in equity to the extent of 
the remaining reserve attributable to the asset; all other decreases are 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. All other classes 
of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.  

The Hospitals Contribution Fund of Australia Limited  
Freehold land and buildings were revalued by the Directors at 
30 June 2018 using advice received from independent valuations 
carried out by Colliers International Consultancy and Valuation 
Pty Limited. The inspections and valuations of subject properties 
were done within 90 days prior to 30 June 2018 using appropriate 
assumptions determined as at the date of valuation, assuming the 
properties are in the same condition on the valuation date as the 
inspection date.  

Revaluations are performed on the basis of sale and leaseback under 
their existing usage method. The change required to the overall 
carrying value on revaluation is charged directly to the asset 
revaluation reserve as the buildings are owner occupied.  

Leasehold improvements  
The cost of improvements to leasehold property are capitalised, 
recorded as leasehold improvements and amortised over the 
unexpired portion of the lease or estimated useful life of the 
improvements, whichever is shorter. 

Depreciation  
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net 
cost or revalued amount of each item of property, plant and 
equipment (excluding land) over its expected useful life to the Group. 
Estimates of remaining useful lives are made on a regular basis for all 
assets, with annual reassessments for major items.  

The expected useful lives for the property, plant and equipment of The 
Hospitals Contribution Fund of Australia Limited are as follows:  

CATEGORY USEFUL LIFE USEFUL LIFE 

Freehold buildings 40 – 50 years 

Plant and equipment 2.5 – 15 years 

Leasehold improvements 5 – 14 years 

Computer equipment 2 – 5 years 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amounts, which 
are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Leasehold 
improvements are amortised over the term of the lease.  

Derecognition  
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. 

8.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
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Recognition and measurement  
Initially, investment properties are measured at cost, including 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition investment 
properties are stated at fair value. Gains or losses arising from 
changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which they arise.  

Investment properties are derecognised when they have either 
been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its 
disposal. Any gains or losses on the derecognition of an investment 
property are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
in the year of derecognition.  

Transfers are made to investment property when and only when 
there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of owner occupation, 
commencement of an operating lease to another party, or ending of 
construction or development. Transfers are made from investment 
property when and only when there is a change in use, evidenced 
by commencement of owner occupation or commencement of 
development with a view to sale.  

Commercial property  
The property was revalued by the Directors at 30 June 2018 at fair 
value, using advice received from independent valuations carried out 
by Colliers International Consultancy and Valuation Pty Limited. The 
inspection and valuation of the property was done within 90 days 
prior to 30 June 2018, using appropriate assumptions determined 
as at the date of valuation, assuming the property is in the same 
condition on the valuation date as the inspection date.  

Revaluations were performed on the basis of a leased investment 
property. The change required to the overall carrying value on 
revaluation is brought to account through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  

(i) Key judgements, estimates and assumptions  
In determining the fair value, the capitalisation of net market income 
method and discounting of future cash flows to their present value 
have been used. These approaches require assumptions and 
judgement in relation to the future receipt of contractual rentals, 
expected future market rentals, void periods, maintenance 
requirements, property capitalisation rate or estimated yield and 
make reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar 
properties. If such prices are not available then the fair value of 
investment properties is determined using assumptions that are 
mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance date.  

The expected future market rentals are determined on the basis of 
current market rentals for similar properties in the same location 
and condition. 

9. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

(a) Carrying amounts of investment property at the end of the current year     

Freehold land and buildings     

At fair value 48,120 55,000 38,680 46,520 

TOTAL FREEHOLD LAND AND BUILDINGS1 48,120 55,000 38,680 46,520 

(b) Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of investment property at the beginning and end of 
the current year  

    

Freehold land and buildings      

Balance at start of period 55,000 46,731 46,520 38,021 

Addition 829 – 829 – 

Net amount of revaluation increments 9,562 9,585 8,211 8,499 

Transfer2 (16,880) – (16,880) – 

Discontinued operations – assets held for sale (391) (1,316) – – 

Balance at end of period 48,120 55,000 38,680 46,520 

Rental income derived from investment properties 2,767 3,133 2,333 2,534 

Direct operating expenses (including repairs & maintenance) generating rental income (1,168) (1,290) (1,072) (1,136) 

NET PROFIT ARISING FROM INVESTMENT PROPERTIES CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE 1,599 1,843 1,261 1,398 

1 There were no restrictions held against investment property for both years presented. 
2 In accordance with AASB 140 Investment Property, on 30 June 2018, $16.9 million was transferred from investment property to property, plant and equipment as a material portion of the 

property became owner-occupied. 
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS   

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Software      

At cost  21,513 12,602 20,276 11,266 

Accumulated amortisation  (8,767) (5,845) (7,609) (4,798) 

TOTAL SOFTWARE1  12,746 6,757 12,667 6,468 

Software      

Balance at start of period  6,757 1,599 6,468 1,029 

Additions  9,996 7,467 9,986 7,573 

Disposals  (366) – (280) – 

Amortisation expense  (3,669) (2,236) (3,507) (2,134) 

Discontinued operations – assets held for sale  28 (73) – – 

  12,746 6,757 12,667 6,468 

Goodwill      

Balance at start of period  101,285 101,285 101,285 101,285 

TOTAL GOODWILL  101,285 101,285 101,285 101,285 

Total intangible assets       

Balance at start of period  108,042 102,884 107,753 102,314 

Additions  9,996 7,467 9,986 7,573 

Disposals  (366) – (280) – 

Amortisation expense 2 (3,669) (2,236) (3,507) (2,134) 

Discontinued operations – assets held for sale  28 (73) – – 

TOTAL BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD  114,031 108,042 113,952 107,753 

1  During the year, software to the value of $1.1 million (2017: $10.8 million) was fully depreciated and disposed of by the Group. 
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Recognition and measurement  
Impairment testing for goodwill  
Goodwill represents the excess cost of a business combination over 
the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the 
acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions 
of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.  

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) or groups of CGUs that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective 
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those 
units or groups of units. The Group has four CGUs, being Health 
Insurance, Life Insurance, Retirement village and More at Home.  

The goodwill of $101.3 million has been predominantly allocated to a 
single CGU, being the Health Insurance business.  

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently 
reversed.  

The recoverable amount of goodwill is determined based on a value in 
use calculation using pre-tax cash flow projections. These calculations 
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the 
Board covering a four year period. Cash flows beyond the five year 
period are extrapolated using a terminal growth rate of 5.00%  
(2017: 3.95%). The growth rate does not exceed the historic long-
term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates.  

Key assumptions used for fair value less costs to sell calculations  
The following describes the key assumptions on which management 
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of 
goodwill:  

• Cash flow forecast: forecast profits for the first four years are used 
to derive a medium-term cash flow proxy; 

• Discount rate: calculated on the weighted average cost of capital; 
and 

• Terminal growth rate at year 2022 and beyond is based on 
management’s expectation for future performance in the Health 
Insurance CGU.  

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each CGU as 
applicable within the business segment.  

Impact of possible changes in key assumptions  
The carrying value of identified intangible assets, as well as net 
tangible assets, are deducted from the values generated from the cash 
flow projections to arrive at a recoverable value for goodwill, which is 
then compared with the carrying value of goodwill.  

It has been assessed that the recoverability of goodwill is in excess of 
its carrying amount. Therefore, all goodwill is expected to be 
recoverable.  

With regard to the assessment of the recoverable amount of the CGU, 
management believes that no reasonable sensitivity movements in 
any of the above key assumptions would cause impairment.  

Impairment charge  
Based upon the impairment testing performed, there is no impairment 
charge as no impairment was indicated for the year ended 30 June 
2018 (2017: nil).  

Other intangible assets  

Other  
Other intangibles are initially recognised at cost and amortised over 
the period of expected benefit, less any adjustments for impairment 
losses. A summary of the useful lives of intangible assets is as follows:  

INTANGIBLE ASSET USEFUL LIFE 

Software Finite (2 – 5 years) 

Impairment  
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject 
to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they 
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.  

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, being the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows, which 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (cash-generating units). 

 

  

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
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11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Trade creditors and benefits payable 89,301 80,838 87,800 79,618 

Other creditors and accruals 11,290 10,511 11,269 10,426 

Inter-company payables – – 632 503 

Payable to controlled entities – – 10 10 

Trade creditors and other payables 100,591 91,349 99,711 90,557 

EXPECTED TO BE PAID IN THE NEXT 12 MONTHS 100,591 91,349 99,711 90,557 

Recognition and measurement  
Trade creditors and other payables  
Trade creditors and other payables, which are generally settled within 30-day terms and are unsecured, are carried at amortised cost and  
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group 
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.  



 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

THE HOSPITALS CONTRIBUTION FUND OF AUSTRALIA LIMITED FINANCIAL REPORT | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
 

32 

 

Recognition and measurement  
The proportion of written premiums, attributable to subsequent 
periods (gross of commission payable to intermediaries) is reported 
as unearned premium. The change in the provision for unearned 
premium is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in order 
that revenue is recognised over the period of the risk.  

Liability Adequacy Test  
At reporting date, the Group assesses the sufficiency of the unearned 
premium liability to cover all expected future cash flows relating to 
future claims against current health insurance contracts. This 
assessment is referred to as the Liability Adequacy Test (‘LAT’).  

The LAT is performed to ensure that unearned premiums (unearned 
premium liabilities) and premiums expected to be received based on a 
current policyholder’s option to renew their existing contract 
(constructive obligation) is adequate to cover the expected liabilities 
arising from the policyholders existing rights and obligations. The 
expected liabilities include benefits, member servicing costs and a 
margin for risk. The period of the projections is up until the next price 
review or change in contractual benefits.  

If the present value of the expected future claims cash flows plus the 
additional risk margin exceeds the unearned premium liability less 
related intangible assets and related deferred acquisition costs, then 
the unearned premium liability is deemed to be deficient.  

The Group applies a risk margin to achieve the same probability of 
sufficiency for future claims as is achieved by the estimate of the 
outstanding claims liability. The adopted risk margin is 3.5% (2017: 
3.5%) to equate to a probability of adequacy of 75% (2017: 75%).  

If applicable, the deficiency is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, by writing down any related intangible assets 
and then related deferred acquisition costs. Any excess is recorded in 
the Statement of Financial Position as an unexpired risk liability.  

If the LAT identifies that the insurance liability exceeds the expected 
future cash flows relating to future claims, taking into account the 
additional risk margin, then no recognition occurs in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position.  

The LAT resulted in a surplus this year. 

  

12. UNEARNED PREMIUM LIABILITIES AND UNEXPIRED RISK LIABILITY 

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

(a) Unearned premium liabilities      

Balance at start of period  314,502 293,934 314,502 293,934 

Deferral of premiums on contracts written during the year  310,457 314,502 310,457 314,502 

Earning of premiums written in previous periods  (309,590) (293,934) (309,590) (293,934) 

Balance at end of period  315,369 314,502 315,369 314,502 

(b) Maturity analysis of unearned premium liabilities       

No longer than 12 months  311,689 309,590 311,689 309,590 

Longer than 12 months and not longer than 2 years  3,680 4,912 3,680 4,912 

Unearned premium liabilities as at 30 June  315,369 314,502 315,369 314,502 
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Recognition and measurement  
Provisions are recognised when:  

• the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event; 

• it is probable that resources will be expended to settle the 
obligation; and 

• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Employee entitlements  
Provisions for employee entitlements includes annual leave and long 
service leave that are not expected to be settled wholly within 
12 months after the end of the period. The provisions are measured at 
the present value of expected future payments, taking into account 
expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period, 
using corporate bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.  

Customer loyalty bonus  
The expected future payments are not discounted due to the short tail 
nature of the products written by the Company where loyalty bonuses 
are generally settled within 12 months.  

Makegood on leased premises  
In accordance with certain lease agreements, the Group is obligated 
to restore leased premises to their original condition at the end of the 
lease term. Due to the long-term nature of the liability, there is 
uncertainty in estimating the ultimate amount of these costs. The 
provision has been discounted to take into account the time value 
of money throughout the remaining term of the lease. 

13. PROVISIONS 

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Employee entitlements 14 15,731 15,763 15,268 15,175 

Customer loyalty bonus  2,610 2,827 2,610 2,827 

Makegood on leased premises  3,492 3,903 3,492 3,903 

Total provisions  21,833 22,493 21,370 21,905 

EXPECTED TO BE PAID IN THE NEXT 12 MONTHS  13,891 8,419 13,581 8,147 

Reconciliation of provisions      

Employee entitlements      

Balance at start of period  15,763 15,464 15,175 14,773 

Provision increase  8,721 7,901 8,521 7,575 

Payments  (8,766) (7,569) (8,428) (7,173) 

Discontinued operations – assets held for sale  13 (33) – – 

Total employee entitlements  15,731 15,763 15,268 15,175 

Customer loyalty bonus      

Balance at start of period  2,827 3,068 2,827 3,068 

Provision decrease  (217) (241) (217) (241) 

Total customer loyalty bonus  2,610 2,827 2,610 2,827 

Makegood on leased premises      

Balance at start of period  3,903 2,749 3,903 2,749 

Provision (decrease)/increase  (36) 1,211 (36) 1,211 

Payments  (375) (57) (375) (57) 

Total makegood on leased premises  3,492 3,903 3,492 3,903 

TOTAL BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD  21,833 22,493 21,370 21,905 
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Recognition and measurement  
Annual leave and long service leave  
The liability for annual leave and long service leave is recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits. It is measured as the present value of 
expected future payments for the services provided by employees up 
to the reporting date. Expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the reporting date on corporate bonds, with terms to 
maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.  

Key estimate  
Management judgement is required in determining the following 
key assumptions used in the calculation of long service leave at the 
balance date:  

• future increases in salaries and wages; 

• future on-cost rates; and 

• experience of employee departures and period of service. 

Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date on national government bonds, with terms to maturity 
and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future 
cash outflows.  

The Group expects the liability for annual leave to be settled within 
12 months of each reporting date.  

Superannuation commitments  
Contributions by companies in the Group are made at a rate sufficient 
to meet the entity’s superannuation guarantee obligations (9.5% of 
salary during the year) or at such higher rate as agreed between the 
employee and the Group.  

The Group makes contributions to complying superannuation 
funds as requested by employees, to meet the requirements of the 
superannuation guarantee legislation. The Group has no further 
obligations relating to superannuation commitments. 

  

14. EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS 

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Aggregate employee entitlements are comprised of accrued wages, salaries and 
oncosts, and provisions 

     

Annual leave  6,909 6,626 6,734 6,359 

Long service leave  8,822 9,137 8,534 8,816 

Total employee entitlements 13 15,731 15,763 15,268 15,175 

EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS EXPECTED TO BE PAID IN THE NEXT 12 MONTHS  10,777 7,136 10,467 6,878 
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Recognition and measurement  
The liability for outstanding claims provides for claims received but 
not assessed and claims incurred but not received. The liability is 
based on an actuarial assessment taking into account historical 
patterns of claim incidence and processing. It is measured as the 
central estimate of the present value of expected future payments 
arising from claims incurred at the end of each reporting period.  

Key estimate: expected future payments  
The expected future payments are not discounted due to the short tail 
nature of the products written by the Company where claims are 
generally settled within 12 months.  

Based on historic experience, approximately 53% of outstanding 
claims are settled within one month of balance date, and accordingly 
only 47% of the outstanding claims provision requires an estimate.  

Key estimate: risk margin  
AASB 1023 General Insurance Contracts requires a risk margin to be 
applied to the outstanding claims liability, net of risk equalisation and 
other recoveries, to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the central 
estimate of the outstanding claims liability.  

The risk margin has been based on an analysis of the past experience 
of the Group. This analysis examined the volatility of past payments 
that has not been explained by the model adopted to determine the 
central estimate. The past volatility has been assumed to be indicative 
of the future volatility. The margin for risk has been set at a level of 
2.5% (2017: 2.5%), estimated to equate to a probability of adequacy 
of 75% (2017: 75%). 

Key estimate: claims handling cost  
The liability also allows for an estimate of claims handling costs, which 
include costs that can be associated directly with individual claims, 
such as legal and other professional fees, and costs that can only be 
indirectly associated with individual claims, such as claims 
administration costs. 

  

15. CLAIMS LIABILITIES 

  CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 NOTE 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Central estimate of expected present value of future payments for claims incurred  174,448 160,104 174,448 160,104 

Risk margin  4,415 4,052 4,415 4,052 

Claims handling costs  2,131 1,960 2,131 1,960 

TOTAL CLAIMS LIABILITIES  180,994 166,116 180,994 166,116 

Changes in the claims liabilities can be analysed as follows:      

Balance at start of period  166,116 150,620 166,116 150,620 

Claims incurred during the year 3 2,313,268 2,190,008 2,313,268 2,190,008 

Claims paid during the year  (2,298,390) (2,174,512) (2,298,390) (2,174,512) 

BALANCE AT THE END OF THE PERIOD  180,994 166,116 180,994 166,116 
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The consolidated entity’s financial condition and operating activities 
are affected by a number of key financial risks, including interest 
rate risk, currency risk, credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and non-
financial risks, including insurance risk, compliance risk, regulatory risk 
and operational risk. The consolidated entity has implemented a 
Group-wide risk management system to mitigate those risks.  

1. Group risk management roles and responsibilities  
HCF’s Board of Directors determines the Group’s overall risk appetite 
and approves the risk management strategies, policies and practices 
to ensure that risks, including compliance risks, are identified and 
managed within the context of this appetite.  

The direct review of risk management has been delegated by the HCF 
Board to the HCF Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee, and by the 
HCF Life Board to the HCF Life Audit Committee and the HCF Life 
Risk and Compliance Committee. Committee members comprise only 
Non-Executive Directors.  

The management team is responsible for implementing and assessing 
the effectiveness of risk management strategies and internal controls 
across the Group. The Group has a Chief Governance Officer, who is 
the responsibility for risk compliance and related issues within the 
Group. The Chief Governance Officer is assisted in this task by the 
following functions and activities:  

Risk and compliance management – maintains the Group risk 
management and compliance frameworks. These ensure that the 
business has in place the appropriate structures, processes and 
competencies to give due consideration to all strategic and 
operational risks, including the assessment of the adequacy of 
controls, and provides a process and reporting framework to enable 
the business to meet regulatory and legal compliance obligations in 
accordance with HCF Group compliance policies.  

Internal audit – which provides independent assurance to senior 
management and Directors regarding the adequacy of controls over 
perceived higher risk activities of the Group.  

Risk reporting – recording management’s perceptions of risks and 
controls within individual business units.  

Investment policies and management – which establishes and 
reviews policies and controls and processes in connection with 
financial risk, including investment risk, credit risk, currency risk, 
foreign exchange risk and capital management.  

Actuarial – a separate dedicated technical department in the private 
health insurance business that analyses claims to monitor the 
appropriateness of the premium rates. Advice is further sought 
from the external Appointed Actuary.  

2. Insurance risk – health insurance activities  
The Group’s health insurance activities primarily include prudent 
pricing, together with claims management and investment management. 
Because of the specific requirements of health insurance community 
rating, risks must be accepted at a standard premium rate that is not 
individually risk rated. The premium rates that are proposed are 
subject to review by the Minister for Health and must ensure the 
financial viability of the health fund.  

While the Group has the ability to determine rates and benefits 
payable within certain guidelines, there is limited ability to price risk. 
This includes the impact of the Risk Equalisation Scheme, which is a 
government mandated policy which allocates a percentage of all 
payments to members based upon age cohorts, to be paid or received 
by all health funds in proportion to their overall membership. The aim 
of the Scheme is to reduce the insurance risk associated with having 
older policyholders with potentially increasing health issues. 

The key policies in place to mitigate risks in health insurance include:  

• operation of the Risk Equalisation Special Account; 

• the use of Actuarial models based on historical data to calculate 
premiums; 

• monitoring of fund rules and changes as appropriate; and 

• industry policies and APRA requirements. 

Concentration of insurance risk  
There is concentration of risks into the areas where we have a higher 
than average membership; for example, NSW. Because of the 
Community Rating Principle, we are unable to set different prices 
based on an individual’s age or to reflect their previous claims history. 
As such, we are unable to directly mitigate these concentrations of 
insurance risks.  

3. Capital risk 
The Group and parent entity’s objectives when managing capital 
are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so they 
continue to provide benefits for stakeholders, and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure.  

4. Solvency and capital standards 
Each health benefits fund needs to satisfy APRA Prudential Standard 
HPS 100 Solvency and APRA Prudential Standard HPS 110 Capital 
Adequacy under the Private Health Insurance (Prudential Supervision) 
Act 2015.  

In brief, the intention of these capital standards is to ensure that 
each health benefits fund of a private health insurer has sufficient, 
appropriate assets available to be able to demonstrate that it will be 
able to meet future policyholder and creditor obligations under a 
range of adverse experience outcomes.  

As part of its liquidity management policy, HCF plans to hold at least 
1.2 times the cash management amount in cash or on-demand 
deposits. The Fund fully met both its capital and solvency requirement 
at all times over the past 12 months.  

For HCF Life, the capital requirement in each statutory fund is 
calculated in accordance with the standard HPS 110 Capital 
Adequacy, issued by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority.  

LPS 100 Solvency standard requires HCF Life to satisfy the 
requirements of this prudential standard if the capital base of the 
fund exceeds 90% of the fund’s prescribed capital amount. 
Investments held in the life statutory funds can only be used in 
accordance with the relevant regulatory restrictions imposed 
under the Life Act and associated rules and regulations. The main 
restrictions are that the assets in a life statutory fund can only be 
used to meet the liabilities and expenses of that life statutory fund, 
to acquire investments to further the business of the life statutory 
fund or as distributions provided solvency, capital adequacy and other 
regulatory requirements are met. 

  

RISK 

16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

5. Financial risk 
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of investments in unit trusts, deposits with banks, short-term investments, accounts receivable 
and payable, accommodation bonds, and loans to and from subsidiaries. Investments in unit trusts include their exposure to both international and 
domestic equity (both hedged and unhedged) markets.  

Senior executives and the Board Investment Committee meet on a regular basis and evaluate management strategies in the context of the most 
recent economic conditions and recommend changes to the Board of Directors when considered prudent.  

The objective is to assist the Group in meeting its financial target while protecting future financial security. The Group is exposed to a number of 
forms of financial risk, the most significant being credit risk and liquidity risk.  

This section provides an explanation of where the Group is affected by financial risks.  

a) Liquidity risk 
The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources for claims and maturing policies. Liquidity risk is the risk that payment of 
obligations may not be met in a timely manner at a reasonable cost. Investments are managed to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet 
liabilities as and when they fall due.  

The table below summarises the maturity profile of financial liabilities of the Group based on the remaining undiscounted contractual obligations, 
except for insurance contract liabilities when maturity profiles are determined on the discounted estimated timing of net cash outflows. 

CONSOLIDATED 
1 YEAR 

OR LESS 
1 YEAR TO 

5 YEARS 
OVER 

5 YEARS 
INVESTMENT 

LINKED TOTAL 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2018 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Trade and other payables 100,591 – – – 100,591 

Finance lease liabilities 746 2,989 – – 3,735 

Investment contract liabilities 1,579 578 – 10 2,167 

Minority interest – JANA Tailored Trust No. 3 49,396 – – – 49,396 

Total undiscounted liabilities 152,312 3,567 – 10 155,889 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2017      

Trade and other payables 91,349 – – – 91,349 

Finance lease liabilities 1,089 4,307 – – 5,396 

Investment contract liabilities 451 1,960 – 10 2,421 

Minority interest – JANA Tailored Trust No. 3 50,163 – – – 50,163 

Total undiscounted liabilities 143,052 6,267 – 10 149,329 

      

PARENT 
1 YEAR 

OR LESS 
1 YEAR TO 

5 YEARS 
OVER 

5 YEARS 
INVESTMENT 

LINKED TOTAL 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2018 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Trade and other payables 99,711 – – – 99,711 

Finance lease liabilities 746 2,989 – – 3,735 

Total undiscounted liabilities 100,457 2,989 – – 103,446 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2017      

Trade and other payables 90,557 – – – 90,557 

Finance lease liabilities 1,089 4,307 – – 5,396 

Total undiscounted liabilities 91,646 4,307 – – 95,953 
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

b) Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which 
comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables 
and investments backing insurance liabilities. The Group’s exposure 
to credit risk arises from potential default of the counterparty, with 
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these 
instruments. 

Credit risk exposures are calculated regularly and compared to 
authorised credit limits before further transactions are undertaken 
with each counterparty. This, combined with the nature of the 
credit exposures to highly liquid assets (cash and cash equivalents) 
and investment grade instruments, means the Group does not 
require collateral or other security to support credit risk exposure.  

There is no significant concentration of credit risk within the Group 
and financial instruments are spread among a number of financial 
institutions and fund managers to minimise the risk of default by 
counterparties.  

 Credit risk exposure  
With regard to the Group’s investment in unlisted trusts, the 
controls imposed in managing the underlying credit risk exposures 
contained therein are set and controlled by our investment 
manager JANA Investment Advisers Pty Limited under its multi 
manager platform. These controls include setting and monitoring 
minimum and average credit ratings and maximum exposures 
to individual counterparties and fund managers.  

With regard to credit risk exposures by counterparties to underlying 
derivative contracts, the controls imposed are contained within the 
Risk Management Statement.  

For the remaining investments, there are no significant 
concentrations of risk within the Group, with the investments 
among a number of banks and financial institutions with 
independent ratings between AAA and BBB. Maximum 
holdings of investments within the ratings are stipulated in 
the investment strategy and are reviewed before renewing 
or placing additional investments.  

(i) Credit exposure by type 

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Investments held as fair value through profit or loss 1,418,742 1,341,736 1,377,103 1,298,902 

Due from government 65,748 65,551 65,748 65,551 

Due from individuals 7,251 7,405 7,251 7,405 

Total 1,491,741 1,414,692 1,450,102 1,371,858 

There are no material amounts of collateral held as security for both years presented. 
There are no amounts past due but not impaired. 

(ii) Credit exposure by credit rating 

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents     

A series rating 77,596 84,528 70,622 74,136 

Total 77,596 84,528 70,622 74,136 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

A series rating 1,237,789 1,146,268 1,201,438 1,109,644 

B series rating 185,479 179,660 179,983 173,878 

Unrated (4,526) 15,808 (4,318) 15,380 

Total 1,418,742 1,341,736 1,377,103 1,298,902 
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

6. Market risk 
The Group takes on exposure to market risks, including currency 
risk, fair value interest risk and price risk. Market risks arise from 
open positions in interest rates, currency and equity products, all of 
which are exposed to general and specific market movements. The 
market risks that the Group primarily faces are equity risk and 
interest rate risk, due to the nature of its investments.  

With respect to insurance and investment contracts where the 
Group incurs market risk primarily in the form of interest rate risk, 
the risk is managed through asset/liability management strategies 
that seek to match the interest rate sensitivity of the assets to that 
of the underlying liabilities.  

The overall objective in these strategies is to limit the net change in 
the value of assets and liabilities arising from interest rate movements. 
While it is more difficult to measure the interest sensitivity of 
insurance liabilities than that of the related assets, to the extent that 
it is possible to measure such sensitivities, the Group believes that 
interest rate movements will generate asset value changes that 
substantially offset changes in the value of the liabilities relating 
to the underlying insurance and investment contracts.  

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities will decrease 
as a result of changes in levels of equity indices and the value of 
individual stocks. The Group holds the majority of its equities 
indirectly through its investment in an unlisted unit trust.  

The investment policy stipulates the limit of any individual stock in 
the equity portfolio while asset concentration risks are managed 
according to the investment objective. For all the assets backing  

 insurance contracts that are not sensitive to interest rate or market 
risk, the Group has developed investment guidelines to manage the 
Group’s exposure to equity risk, primarily by seeking to match the 
risk profile of equity investments against risk-adjusted equity 
market benchmarks. 

The Group measures benchmark risk levels in terms of price 
volatility in relation to the market in general. For the assets backing 
insurance liabilities, the key objective is to ensure that the returns 
are adequate and the returns are delivered maintaining a sufficient 
level of liquid assets to fund unexpected cash outflows arising from 
insurance claims payments. The liquidity risk section below deals 
with this aspect of the Group risk management in greater detail. 
Investment activity for the Group is undertaken in accordance with 
an investment mandate established by the Board of Directors. The 
mandate stipulates the investment allocation mix, the match of 
investment assets and liabilities and the use of derivatives.  

a) Interest rate risk 
The Group strikes a balance, mitigating the most significant 
exposure to interest rate risk while maximising the return to 
participating policyholders by allowing some flexibility to those 
who manage the investment of the assets. A number of derivatives 
may be held to enable the matching of assets and liabilities to 
further mitigate exposure to interest rate movements.  

Although this natural hedging is not reflected in the accounting 
policies adopted or in the presentation of the results and Statement 
of Financial Position included in these financial statements, it does 
mitigate the Group’s exposure to such risk. These matching 
procedures are not 100% effective. 

At the balance date, the Group had the following financial assets exposed to variable interest rate risk: 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 77,596 84,528 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – fixed income 1,392,898 1,310,237 

Total 1,470,494 1,394,765 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis  
The following table demonstrates the impact of a 50 basis point change in Australian and international interest rates, with all other variables 
held constant, on HCF Group’s profit and equity. Management has estimated that a reasonable range this year is a 50 basis point change  
(2017: 50 basis points) that occurs at the reporting date (30 June 2018 and 2017) and there are concurrent movements in interest rates and 
parallel shifts in yield curves. 

 30 JUNE 2018 30 JUNE 2018 

 
POST TAX PROFIT 

$’000 
POST TAX PROFIT 

$’000 

Change in variable   

+50 basis points 7,352 6,974 

–50 basis points (7,352) (6,974) 
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7. Derivatives and hedging activities 
HCF, via its investments in unit trusts, can have exposure to 
derivatives if authorised by the constitution governing the trusts. 
Conditions of use are set out in the relevant product disclosure 
statement and risk management statement.  

There are rigid guidelines regarding the use of derivatives, which 
are set and monitored by HCF’s investment advisor JANA. These 
guidelines cover, among other things, liquidity requirements, limits 
on investment managers’ gross exposure and counterparty risk. 
The Trusts can invest in derivatives to:  

• reduce risk; 

• reduce transaction costs; 

• take advantage of opportunities to increase returns; and 

• create leverage or to create short exposures. 

While the use of derivatives is allowed, it is the Group’s policy that, 
unless indicated otherwise, derivatives will not be used to:  

• increase the level of market risk beyond that required to meet the 
Trusts’ objective; 

• create economic leverage. Economic leverage is where the Trusts’ 
exposure to the return on a market is greater than that which could 
be achieved by investing in that market without using derivatives or 
borrowed funds; and  

• create an uncovered short exposure to an asset or market; that is, a 
short exposure without an offsetting long exposure considered a 
reasonable hedge for that asset or market.  

Derivatives will not be used in a way that is contrary to regulatory 
requirements. 

  

16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

b) Equity movement sensitivity analysis 
The analysis below demonstrates the impact of a 10% movement in Australian and international equities. Management has estimated that a 
reasonably possible change this year is a 10% movement in Australian and international equities (2017: 10% movement) that occurs at the 
reporting date (30 June 2018 and 2017). This analysis was performed to assess the risk of holding investments linked to equity instruments. It 
is assumed any change occurs as at the reporting date. 

 30 JUNE 2018 30 JUNE 2017 

 
POST TAX PROFIT 

$’000 
POST TAX PROFIT 

$’000 

Change in variable   

10% increase in Australian equities 8,715 7,719 

10% increase in international equities 16,688 14,319 

10% decrease in Australian equities (8,715) (7,719) 

10% decrease in international equities (16,688) (14,319) 

c) Currency risk 
The Company has direct exposure to foreign currencies via its investment in an unlisted foreign trust.  

The Company also has indirect exposure to foreign currencies via its investment in an unlisted unit trust as a result of the unit trust holding 
international equities. The currency movement in underlying international equities is dealt with in price risk.  

In certain instances, the unit trusts choose to hedge these exposures using spot foreign exchange contracts to hedge the value of the underlying 
assets. The objective is to eliminate currency movements on the underlying assets from the performance of the fund. The associated costs and 
marked to market effect of the spot foreign exchange contracts are reflected in the unit price adopted valuation of assets and the measurement 
of profit or loss.  

The investment is carried at fair value with gains and losses through profit or loss.  

Management has estimated that a reasonably possible change this year is a 10% movement in foreign currencies (2017: 10% movement) that 
occurs at the reporting date (30 June 2018 and 2017). At 30 June 2018, had the Australian dollar moved, as illustrated in the table below, with 
all other variables held constant, post tax profit and other comprehensive income would have been affected as follows: 

 30 JUNE 2018 30 JUNE 2017 

 
POST TAX PROFIT 

$’000 
POST TAX PROFIT 

$’000 

AUD to US Dollar +10% (4,209) (4,465) 

AUD to US Dollar -10% 5,144 5,457 
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

Fair values  
a) Fair value hierarchy 
The table below separates financial assets and financial liabilities on a hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in the 
determination of fair value. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:  

Level 1 - quoted prices  
Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities are used.  

Level 2 - other observable inputs  
Inputs that are observable (other than Level 1 quoted prices) for the asset or liability, either directly (ie. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices) are used.  

Level 3 - unobservable inputs  
Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs are used).  

There were no transfers between the levels during the reporting period.  

Fair value measurement  
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's financial assets and liabilities, other than those with carrying 
amounts that are reasonable approximations of fair values: 

 2018 2017 

CONSOLIDATED 
LEVEL 1 

$’000 
LEVEL 2 

$’000 
LEVEL 3 

$’000 
LEVEL 1 

$’000 
LEVEL 2 

$’000 
LEVEL 3 

$’000 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss       

Short-term deposits 11,096 – – 8,418 – – 

Holdings in unlisted unit trust       

• JANA Tailored Trust No. 3 – 1,666,927 – – 1,558,521 – 

Holdings in unlisted foreign trust – – 35,202 – – 40,699 

Holdings in other direct investments – – 2,500 – – 2,500 

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 11,096 1,666,927 37,702 8,418 1,558,521 43,199 

Investments relating to life insurance business        

Holdings in unlisted unit trust – at fair value – 57,357 – – 49,239 – 

Total investments relating to life insurance business – 57,357 – – 49,239 – 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 
OR LOSS 

11,096 1,724,284 37,702 8,418 1,607,760 43,199 

Owner-occupied properties       

Commercial properties – – 216,223 – – 118,165 

Total owner-occupied properties – – 216,223 – – 118,165 

Investment properties       

Commercial property – – 48,120 – – 55,000 

Total investment properties – – 48,120 – – 55,000 

TOTAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 11,096 1,724,284 302,045 8,418 1,607,760 216,364 

Liabilities        

Investment linked contract liabilities – 2,167 – – 2,421 – 

Minority interest – JANA Tailored Trust No.3 – – 49,396 – – 50,163 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE – 2,167 49,396 – 2,421 50,163 
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 2018 2017 

PARENT 
LEVEL 1 

$’000 
LEVEL 2 

$’000 
LEVEL 3 

$’000 
LEVEL 1 

$’000 
LEVEL 2 

$’000 
LEVEL 3 

$’000 

Assets       

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss       

Short-term deposits 11,096 – – 8,418 – – 

Holdings in unlisted unit trust       

• JANA Tailored Trust No. 3 – 1,617,531 – – 1,508,358 – 

Holdings in unlisted foreign trust – – 35,202 – – 40,699 

Holdings in other direct investments – – 2,500 – – 2,500 

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 11,096 1,617,531 37,702 8,418 1,508,358 43,199 

Owner-occupied properties        

Commercial properties – – 216,223 – – 118,165 

Investment property        

Commercial property – – 38,680 – – 46,520 

Total owner-occupied property and investment property – – 254,903 – – 164,685 

TOTAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 11,096 1,617,531 292,605 8,418 1,508,358 207,884 

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements     

Financial assets      

Balance at beginning of period 43,199 42,968 43,199 42,968 

Purchases 3,579 5,468 3,579 5,468 

Redemptions (6,319) (9,734) (6,319) (9,734) 

Transfer from other receivables 676 – 676 – 

Net amount of revaluation increments (3,433) 4,497 (3,433) 4,497 

Balance at end of period 37,702 43,199 37,702 43,199 

Financial liabilities     

Balance at beginning of period 50,163 49,626 – – 

Redemptions (2,490) (1,502) – – 

Net amount of revaluation increments 1,723 2,039 – – 

Balance at end of period 49,396 50,163 – – 

Revalued property and investment property     

Balance at beginning of period 173,165 122,740 164,685 114,030 

Additions 7,227 21,185 7,227 21,185 

Transfer – 12,936 – 12,936 

Depreciation expense (2,337) (557) (2,337) (557) 

Net amount of revaluation increments 86,679 18,177 85,328 17,091 

Discontinued operations – assets held for sale (391) (1,316) – – 

Balance at end of period 264,343 173,165 254,903 164,685 
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

The table below provides the observable and unobservable inputs in determining fair value for property 

CLASS OF 
PROPERTY 

VALUATION 
TECHNIQUE 

SIGNIFICANT 
UNOBSERVABLE 
INPUTS 

RANGE 
(WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE) 
 $’000 OR % 

INTER-RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN 
KEY UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS AND 
FAIR VALUE  MEASUREMENT –THE 
ESTIMATED FAIR  VALUE WOULD 
INCREASE /(DECREASE) IF: 

OTHER KEY 
INFORMATION  

Commercial 
buildings 
(Branches) 

Income 
capitalisation 

Estimated rental 
value (per sqm) 

$0.4 – $4.8 
($1.6) 

• the price per square metre was 
higher/(lower) 

  

  Capitalisation rate 2.75% – 7.00% 
(4.35%) 

• the estimated fair value would 
increase if the capitalisation rate was 
lower/(higher) 

  

Commercial 
(HCF House) 

Income 
capitalisation 

Estimated rental 
value (per sqm) 

$15.5 – $16.5 
($16.0) 

• the estimated value per square metre 
was higher/(lower) 

Lettable area 11,775.20 sqm 

  Capitalisation rate 5.50% • capitalisation rate was lower/(higher) Occupancy 65.60% 

 DCF Discount rate 6.875% • the discount rate was lower/(higher) Lease duration 10.35 years 

  Expected market 
rental growth 

Office: 3.82% 

Retail: 3.83% 

• expected market rental growth was 
higher/(lower) 

Term of cash flow 10.0 years 

  Terminal yield 6.00% • terminal yield were lower/(higher)   

Commercial 
Strata 

Income 
capitalisation 

Capital value  
(per sqm) 

$8.00 – $9.00 
($8.50) 

• price per square metre was 
higher/(lower) 

Lettable area 7,777 sqm 

  Capitalisation rate 6.50% – 7.125%  
(6.375%) 

• the capitalisation rate was 
lower/(higher) 

  

Retirement 
Village 

DCF Discount rate Hunters Hill: 
13.50% 

• the discount rate was lower/(higher) Cash flow term 50 years 

  Unit growth Hunters Hill 
4.75% 

• expected market growth was 
higher/(lower) 

Number of units 42 

  Unit pricing Hunters Hill: 
$825 – $1,400 
($1,182) 

• unit pricing was higher/(lower)   

  Unit rollover 9.7% • unit rollover periods were 
shorter/(longer) 

  

  Unit refurbishment 
costs and sinking 
fund allowance 

Minor refurb per 
unit: Min $28.5 

Major refurb per 
unit: Max $100  

Sinking fund: 
0.25% of unit value 

• unit refurbishment costs were 
lower/(higher) 

Occupancy 92.9% 

  Market and selling 
expenses 

1.65% • market and selling expenses were 
lower/(higher) 
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Property fair value measurement – valuation process  
Valuations are performed on an annual basis by an approved external 
valuer who is appointed based upon market knowledge, reputation, 
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. 
For the previous four years, this has been Colliers International 
Consulting and Valuation Pty Limited.  

Following consultation with the Company’s external valuers, 
management reviews and accepts whether a property’s fair 
value has been reliably determined and the assumptions and 
methodologies applied.  

The valuations are presented to the Board of Directors for adoption. 

Holdings in unlisted foreign trust fair value measurement – 
valuation process  
The fair value of financial assets traded in active markets are based on 
quoted market prices at the close of trading on the reporting date.  

The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in an active 
market are estimated using valuation methodologies that consider a 
range of assumptions a market participant would use, including but 
not limited to the price at which the investment was acquired, the 
nature of the investment, local market conditions, trading values on 
public exchanges for comparable securities, current and projected 
performance, financial condition and financing transactions 
subsequent to the acquisition of the investments. The inputs into 
the determination of fair value require significant judgement. Due 
to the inherent uncertainty of these estimates, these values may 
differ from the values that would have been used had a ready 
market for these investments existed. 

  

16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

The table below includes descriptions and definitions relating to valuation techniques, unobservable inputs and other assumptions made in 
determining the fair values: 

  

Income capitalisation method 
(Commercial buildings) 

The Capitalisation of Net Income approach has been undertaken by applying a yield to both the potential fully let passing 
net income (initial yield) and the potential reversionary net income (reversionary yield). To the value derived, 
adjustments have been made for any relevant rental reversions, including letting up allowances, where applicable, for 
vacant space, incentives, leasing fees, capital expenditure and other appropriate capital allowances. 

Discounted cash flow method 
(‘DCF’) 

Involves the discounting of the net cash flow on a monthly basis over an assumed cash flow period (i.e. 10 years) at an 
appropriate cash rate to reflect risk to derive a market value. The net cash flow comprises the cash inflows less the cash 
outflows over the cash flow period, with the addition of the terminal value in the final cash flow period. Cash flows 
comprise income from the property adjusted to reflect actual rental income, speculative rental income and rental growth, 
while cash outflows comprise outgoings adjusted to reflect anticipated inflation, lease incentives, and leasing and 
marketing fees. The terminal value is determined by the capitalisation of the imputed net market income in the month 
after the final cash flow period, with allowances for any relevant capital adjustments. 

Estimated rental value  
(‘ERV’) 

The estimated rental value per square metre at which space could be let in the market conditions prevailing at the date 
of valuation. 

Discount rate A rate of return used to convert a monetary sum, payable or receivable in the future, into present value. 
Theoretically, it should reflect the opportunity cost of capital (i.e., the rate of return the capital can earn if put to 
other uses having similar risk). Determined with reference to a 10-year bond and risk margin – also referred to as 
the required rate of return.  

Initial yield (fully leased)  The initial net income at the date of transaction or valuation expressed as a percentage of the sale price or valuation.   

Reversionary yield The assessed net market income divided by the sum of the sale price or the adopted value plus any capital adjustments to 
the core value such as letting up allowances, capital expenditure and present value of reversions (to obtain this net 
market income).  

Terminal yield The capitalisation rate used to convert income into an indication of the anticipated value of the property at the end of the 
holding period or property resale value. 
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Recognition and measurement  
Investment in controlled entity – JANA Tailored Trust No. 3  
HCF’s investment portfolio is managed by the appointed investment 
advisor JANA. The investment assets held in JANA Tailored Trust 
No. 3 (the Trust) are subject to an investment mandate set by HCF. 
JANA Tailored Trust No. 3 is considered a controlled entity of HCF, 
as HCF and its related entities own 100% of the issued units.  

The investment assets held by the Trust are classified as financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss, with the fair value of the 
investment assets reflecting the fund manager’s valuation.  

The parent entity has valued its investment in JANA at fair value 
through profit or loss.  

The HCF Research Foundation holds $49.4 million investment 
(2017: $50.2 million), which is approximately 3.0% (2017: 3.2%) 
of the Trust’s units and its minority interest is recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position as a liability.  

 

Interests in wholly owned subsidiaries  
The parent entity has valued its investment in wholly owned 
subsidiaries at cost.  

Investments in controlled entities are carried at cost less impairment 
in the Company’s accounts. Dividends received from subsidiaries are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the right 
to receive the dividend is established.  

During the year, Manchester Unity returned the capital contribution of 
$2.3 million (2017: nil) to the Parent Entity, following the closure of its 
More at Home business. As a result, the Parent Entity impaired its 
investment in Manchester Unity by $0.5 million down to $12.5 million, 
based on the recoverable value of the investment in the retirement 
village.  

The investment in controlled entities will be assessed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence 
that they are impaired. It is considered impaired if objective evidence 
indicates that one or more events that have occurred since the initial 
recognition of the asset have had a negative impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset. All impairment losses are recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

Impairment expense on investment in controlled entities amounting 
to $0.5 million has been charged during the year (2017: $44.5 million). 

  

GROUP STRUCTURE 

17. INVESTMENTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 
COUNTRY OF 
INCORPORATION NOTE 

2018 
% 

2017 
% 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

JANA Tailored Trust No. 3 Australia 7 97.0 96.8 1,617,531 1,508,358 

Other controlled entities        

HCF Life Insurance Company Pty Limited        

• ordinary and preference shares Australia  100.0 100.0 10,000 10,000 

HCF Nominees Pty Limited Australia  100.0 100.0 10 10 

HCF Pty Ltd Australia  100.0 100.0 – – 

Manchester Unity Australia Limited Australia  100.0 100.0 12,500 15,275 

Total     22,510 25,285 
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18. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

The Board of Directors has approved the decision to dispose of the assets that support The Heritage at Hunters Hill. If it proceeds it is expected 
the disposal will be finalised in FY2019.  

More at Home community care was closed in October 2017.  

The Heritage at Hunters Hill and More at Home have been reflected as discontinued operations in the 2018 Statement of Comprehensive  
Income in accordance with AASB 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, with 2017 comparative values. For the 2018 
Statement of Financial Position, the assets and liabilities of The Heritage at Hunters Hill have been classified as held for sale. The 2017 held for 
sale assets and liabilities reflect balances for The Heritage at Hunters Hill. The assets/operations out of scope for the sale are shown as  
continuing operations in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Revenue 2,208 1,599 

Expenses (2,734) (3,689) 

Loss from discontinued operations before income tax (526) (2,090) 

Income tax 356 146 

Net loss after income tax from discontinued operations (170) (1,944) 

Net cash flows from operating activities 609 399 

Net cash flows used for investing activities (410) (1,315) 

Net cash flows for the year 199 (916) 

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 572 373 

Trade receivables and other assets 5,114 4,805 

Property, plant and equipment 1,285 1,063 

Intangible assets 45 73 

Deferred tax assets 541 139 

Investment property 1,708 1,316 

Assets held for sale 9,265 7,769 

Liabilities   

Trade and other payables 94 63 

Deferred tax liabilities 2,007 1,835 

Provisions 20 33 

Liabilities held for sale 2,121 1,931 

NET ASSETS DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH DISPOSAL GROUP 7,144 5,838 



 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

THE HOSPITALS CONTRIBUTION FUND OF AUSTRALIA LIMITED FINANCIAL REPORT | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
 

47 

 

Recognition and measurement 
Discontinued operations 
A disposal group qualifies as a discontinued operation if it is: 

• a component of the Group that is a CGU or a group of CGUs; 

• classified as held for sale or distribution or already disposed in such 
a way; or 

• a major line of business or major geographical area. 

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing 
operations and are presented as a single amount as profit or loss after 
tax from discontinued operations in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. All other notes to the financial statements mainly include 
amounts for continuing operations, unless otherwise mentioned.  

Revenue  
(i) Retention fees  
Retention fee income on certain retirement village assets is recognised 
on an accrual basis with the final settlement linked to the resale value 
of the resident’s unit and length of occupancy. The fee is accrued only 
when it can be reliably measured.  

(ii) Community care fees  
Community care fees are recognised as the services are provided.  

(iii) Gain on sale of retirement village units  
This is recognised as the increase between the amount that the 
resident paid for the unit and the amount that the next resident pays 
for the unit, less any costs associated with the subsequent sale or 
lease of the unit.  

Trade receivable and other assets  
(i) Deferred management fee receivable  
The deferred management fee receivable (‘DMF’) of $5.1 million 
(2017: $4.8 million) on certain retirement village assets is recognised 
on an accruals basis with the final settlement linked to the resale value 
of the resident’s unit and length of occupancy, which is approximately 
eight years. The fee is accrued only when it can be reliably measured. 
The DMF is neither past due nor impaired. 

Investment property  
(i) Retirement village  
The retirement village was revalued by the Directors at 30 June 2018 
at fair value, using advice received from independent valuation carried 
out by Colliers International Consultancy and Valuation Pty Limited. 
The inspection and valuation of the property was done within 90 days 
prior to 30 June 2018, using appropriate assumptions determined 
as at the date of valuation, assuming the property is in the same 
condition on the valuation date as the inspection date.  

The change required to the overall carrying value on revaluation is 
brought to account through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

Key judgements, estimates and assumptions  
The retirement village valuation is based upon the owner’s 
reversionary interest in the real estate, which is calculated using 
a discounted cash flow of projected departure fees/share of 
capital gains.  

Revaluations are performed on the basis of a going concern. The going 
concern valuation is undertaken on the assumption of average sound 
management. The valuation also has taken into account the 
characteristics of the asset, including the condition and the location as 
well as any restrictions on the sale of the asset. 

  

18.  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 
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UNRECOGNISED ITEMS 

19. COMMITMENTS 

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Estimated capital expenditure contracted but not provided for at balance date     

Payable not later than one year after the end of the financial year 15,006 12,958 15,006 12,958 

Payable after one year but not more than five years after the end of the financial year 11,022 4,307 11,022 4,307 

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS 26,028 17,265 26,028 17,265 

HCF has a commitment to increase the level of investment in one of its investment trusts by $32.4 million (2017: $24.3 million). 

20. LEASE COMMITMENTS 

Operating lease commitments 
Operating leases 

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Aggregated lease expenditure contracted for at balance date, but not provided for     

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases     

No later than one year 9,956 10,064 9,956 10,064 

Later than one year and not later than five years 27,100 25,642 27,100 25,642 

Later than five years 14,052 14,029 14,052 14,029 

Gross operating lease commitments 51,108 49,735 51,108 49,735 

Operating leases sublet to third parties with minimum lease payments expected 
to be received 

    

No later than one year 545 668 545 668 

Later than one year and not later than five years 1,540 2,346 1,540 2,346 

Later than five years 502 1,305 502 1,305 

Gross operating lease recoveries 2,587 4,319 2,587 4,319 

NET OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 48,521 45,416 48,521 45,416 

Notes: 
a) Rental payments for operating leases are determined on a lease by lease basis, depending on lease terms. 
b) Operating leases generally have a five-year lease term. Commitments represent payments for property rentals. Some premises have been sublet to third parties. Future minimum lease 

payments expected to be received at the reporting date are $2,587,000 (2017: $4,319,000).  
c) The Group has granted a number of lessors bank guarantees to support these obligations, totalling $1.5 million, none of which has been utilised. 

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases     

No later than one year (2,100) 3,745 (2,616) 3,049 

Later than one year and not later than five years 21,233 4,574 20,891 3,428 

Later than five years 31,508 – 31,508 – 

Gross operating lease receivables 50,641 8,319 49,783 6,477 

Notes: 
a) Rental receipts for operating leases are determined on a lease by lease basis, depending on lease terms. 
b) Commitments represent future minimum lease payments expected to be received/(reimbursed) at the reporting date. 
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20. LEASE COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Finance lease commitments 
The Group has entered into a finance lease for hardware and software under enterprise agreements commencing April 2016. The lease is for 
54 months with a nil residual.  

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Finance leases      

No longer than 12 months      

Minimum lease payments 871 1,284 871 1,284 

Less: future finance charges (125) (195) (125) (195) 

Present value minimum lease payments 746 1,089 746 1,089 

Longer than 12 months less than five years     

Minimum lease payments 3,047 4,490 3,047 4,490 

Less: future finance charges (58) (183) (58) (183) 

Present value minimum lease payments 2,989 4,307 2,989 4,307 

TOTAL PRESENT VALUE FINANCE LEASE COMMITMENTS 3,735 5,396 3,735 5,396 

Recognition and measurement  
Operating leases  
The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of 
the leased item, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability 
when received and subsequently reduced by allocating lease payments between rental expense and reduction of the liability.  

The cost of improvements to leasehold property are capitalised, recorded as leasehold improvements and amortised over the unexpired portion 
of the lease or estimated useful life of the improvements, whichever is shorter.  

Finance leases  
Leases which effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item to the consolidated entity 
are capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and included in property, plant and equipment. A lease liability of equal 
value is also recognised.  

21. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  

There are no contingent assets or liabilities as at balance date.  

22. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD  

No matters have occurred after balance date which should be reflected in the financial reports. 
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23. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION  

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Amounts received or due and receivable by the parent company auditor for:      

An audit or review of the financial report of the Company and any other Company in the 
consolidated group 

543,322 499,611 355,166 318,207 

An audit of other regulatory requirements of the Company and any other Company in the 
consolidated group 

189,302 182,274 133,180 127,197 

Other services in relation to the Company and any other Company in the consolidated group     

• Taxation services 38,450 39,200 – – 

• Other non-audit services 267,674 16,500 252,144 – 

TOTAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 1,038,748 737,585 740,490 445,404 

The auditor does not receive any other benefits. 

24. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
a) Details of Key Management Personnel’s retirement benefits and remuneration are set out in Note 25. 

b) During the past year, HCF supplied office space and supporting services and other administrative functions to HCF Life on a cost recovery 
basis. During the financial year, the parent entity received commissions under normal terms and conditions totalling $17,252,015 (2017: 
$17,953,280) from HCF Life for sales of life insurance policies.  

c) HCF supplied supporting services and administrative functions to Retirement and More At Home business totalling $446,886 (2017: 
$127,706). This amount was charged to the Retirement and More At Home business on a cost recovery basis. The amount outstanding at 
30 June 2018 is $85,946 (2017: $1,052,882).  

d) HCF supplied supporting services and administrative functions to HCF Research Foundation totalling $97,783 (2017: $93,375). 
This amount was charged to the HCF Research Foundation on a cost recovery basis. The amount outstanding at 30 June 2018 is $5,574 
(2017: $15,670). 

25. REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
The key management personnel include:  

For The Hospitals Contribution Fund of Australia Limited and Manchester Unity Australia Limited:  
• 8 Non-Executive Directors 

• 1 Managing Director and eight Chief Officers. 

For the HCF Life Insurance Company Pty Limited:  

• 4 Non-Executive Directors 

• 1 Executive Director 

• 1 General Manager. 

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT 

 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 
2018 

$’000 
2017 

$’000 

Short-term employee benefits 8,464,209 7,741,430 7,108,638 6,600,498 

Post-employment benefits 428,497 449,198 334,866 356,821 

Termination benefits 1,226,835 468,786 1,149,914 444,114 

TOTAL 10,119,541 8,659,414 8,593,418 7,401,433 

Key management personnel received no other remuneration benefits.  

The Hospitals Contribution Fund of Australia Limited and Manchester Unity Australia Limited have a common management team. 



 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

THE HOSPITALS CONTRIBUTION FUND OF AUSTRALIA LIMITED FINANCIAL REPORT | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
 

51 

 

a) New and amended accounting standards and 
interpretations adopted from 1 July 2017  

All new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and 
interpretations mandatory as at 1 July 2017 to the Group have 
been adopted with no material impact to the financial statements 
of the Group, including:  

• AASB 2016-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (AASB112) 

This Standard amends AASB 112 Income Taxes (July 2004) and AASB 
112 Income Taxes (August 2015) to clarify requirements on recognition 
of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses on debt instruments 
measured at fair value. This standard applies to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The Group applied AASB 
2016-1 for the annual period beginning 1 July 2017.  

b) Accounting standards and interpretations issued but 
not yet effective  

The following standards, interpretations and amendments were 
available for early adoption and applicable to the Company but have 
not been adopted for the year ending 30 June 2018. Unless otherwise 
stated, these changes are not expected to have a significant impact on 
the results of the Group.  

AASB 9: Financial Instruments 
AASB 9 replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. Except for certain trade receivables, an entity 
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of 
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction 
costs. Debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL), amortised cost, or fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI), on the basis of their 
contractual cash flows and the business model under which the 
debt instruments are held. There is a fair value option (FVO) that 
allows financial assets on initial recognition to be designated as 
FVTPL if that eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch. Equity instruments are generally measured at FVTPL. 
However, entities have an irrevocable option on an instrument 
by instrument basis to present changes in the fair value of non-
trading instruments in other comprehensive income (OCI) without 
subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. For financial liabilities 
designated as FVTPL using the FVO, the amount of change in the fair 
value of such financial liabilities that is attributable to changes in credit 
risk must be presented in OCI. The remainder of the change in fair 
value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation in OCI of the 
fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk would create or 
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. All other AASB 139 
classification and measurement requirements for financial liabilities 
have been carried forward into AASB 9. The new standard includes 
a single, forward looking ‘expected loss’ impairment model and a 
substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting that more 
closely aligns with risk management, establishing a more principle-
based approach to hedge accounting and addressing inconsistencies 
in the hedge accounting model in AASB 139. This standard applies 
to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 
The Group will apply AASB 9 for the annual period beginning on 
1 July 2018. The adoption of this standard by the Group is not 
expected to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
AASB 15 replaces all existing revenue requirements in Australian 
Accounting Standards and applies to all revenue arising from 
contracts with customers, unless the contracts are in the scope of 
other standards, such as AASB 117 Leases (or AASB 16 Leases, once 
applied). The core principle of AASB 15 is that an entity recognises 
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which an 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
An entity recognises revenue in accordance with the core principle by 
applying the following steps:  

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer  

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract  

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price  

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contract  

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a 
performance obligation.  

An impact assessment was performed as follows:  

Net premium revenue 

Over 95% of the Group’s revenue is recognised under AASB 1023 
General Insurance Contracts and AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts. 
These standards will be replaced by AASB 17 Insurance Contracts with 
an effective date for the Group from 1 July 2021, discussed in further 
detail below.  

Other income within the scope of AASB 15 
HCF earns revenue that falls under the scope of AASB 15 from its 
wholly owned subsidiary Manchester Unity Australia Limited, and 
its subsidiary Treytell Pty Limited. The main revenue streams are 
from income from the provision of services to retirement village 
residents, which are recognised as the services are provided. HCF 
has performed a review of the revenue recognition under AASB 15 
of these revenue streams, and the revenue recognition pattern is 
expected to remain consistent with the current policy. This revenue 
makes up less than 1% of HCF’s consolidated revenue and is therefore 
not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements of 
the Group.  

This standard applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018. The Group will apply AASB 15 for the annual period 
beginning on 1 July 2018. This standard is not expected to have a 
material impact on the financial statements of HCF. 

  

26. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 



 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

THE HOSPITALS CONTRIBUTION FUND OF AUSTRALIA LIMITED FINANCIAL REPORT | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
 

52 

 

AASB 16: Leases 
AASB 16 requires lessees to account for all leases under a single  
on–balance sheet model in a similar way to finance leases under 
AASB 117 Leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions 
for lessees – leases of ‘low-value’ assets and short-term leases. At 
the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability 
to make lease payments and an asset representing the right to use 
the underlying asset during the lease term. Lessees will be required 
to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and 
the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will be 
required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of 
certain events. The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the 
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-
use asset. Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged from today’s 
accounting under AASB 117. Lessors will continue to classify all leases 
using the same classification principle as in AASB 117 and distinguish 
between two types of leases: operating and finance leases. This 
standard applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019. The Group will apply AASB 16 for the annual period 
beginning on 1 July 2019.  

There are two transition options. On transition, a lessee is permitted 
to adopt the standard retrospectively or follow a modified retrospective.  

If a lessee elects to apply AASB 16 using a modified retrospective 
approach, then it does not restate comparative information. Instead, 
the lessee recognises the cumulative effect of initially applying the 
standard as an adjustment to equity at the date of the initial 
application of 1 July 2019.  

The right-of-use asset is depreciated in accordance with the 
depreciation requirements of AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment. 
For lessees that depreciate right-of-use assets on a straight-line 
basis, the aggregate of interest expense on the lease liability and 
depreciation of the right of use asset generally results in higher total 
periodic expense in the earlier periods of a lease.  

The lease liability balance will reduce to reflect the lease payments 
and interest expense. Lessees also need to remeasure the lease 
liabilities upon the occurrence of certain events (eg., change in the 
lease term, change in variable rents based on an index or rate), which 
is also to be recognised as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.  

An impact assessment was performed as follows:  

• The Group needs to recognise a right-to-use asset and liability for 
all leases, excluding short-term leases with less than 12 months of 
tenure and leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers). 
As a result, the new standard is expected to impact leases that 
are currently classified by the Group as operating leases primarily, 
leases over branches, dental centres, equipment and motor vehicles.  

• The Group needs to recognise depreciation of right-to-use assets: 
property, plant and equipment in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, and unwinding of the liability in principal and interest 
components.  

• The majority of the Group’s lease portfolio is made up of the lease 
of retail spaces for dental centres and branches. A high level 
analysis of data shows that dental centre leases and branch leases 
have relatively different profiles, where the dental centre lease 
portfolio contains a smaller pool of leases with atypically higher 
dollar value and longer lease terms, while the branch lease portfolio 
has a much larger pool of leases with shorter lease terms. Under all 
scenarios, the Group will recognise new assets and new liabilities.  

Having considered the advantages and disadvantages of the various 
transition options, the Group may consider adopting the modified 
retrospective approach in Option 1 (ie., the right-of-use asset equals 
the lease liability on the date of the initial application). It is a more 
practical and cost-effective approach to the implementation, with 
more readily available access to information required at the date of 
application. While there could be concerns about the financial 
information comparability, taking into account the level of the 
materiality for the Group, the new accounting policy might have a 
material impact on gross balances disclosed in the Group’s financials, 
but be immaterial on a net basis.  

AASB 17: Insurance Contracts 
The AASB has issued AASB 17, which is the Australian interpretation 
of the final Insurance Contract standard. The standard is effective for 
reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2021. The Group will 
apply AASB 17 for the annual period beginning on 1 July 2021. This 
standard has a range of implications. Our assessment of the likely 
impact on the financials is currently being undertaken. 

26. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED) 
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SIGNED REPORTS 
DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

THE HOSPITALS CONTRIBUTION FUND OF AUSTRALIA LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES  

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of The Hospitals Contribution Fund of Australia Limited, I state that:  

In the opinion of the directors: 

a) the Financial Statements and notes of The Hospitals Contribution Fund of Australia Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 are in 
accordance with the Corporate Act 2001, including: 

i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its performance for the year ended on 
that date; and  

ii) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 

b) the Financial Statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and  

c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.  

On behalf of the board  

 

 

R.J. Goaley  
Chair  

Sydney  
30 August 2018 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
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